

# Faculty of Engineering – Department of Civil Engineering

# COLD MIX ASPHALT MADE WITH BITUMEN

# **EMULSION CAPSULES**

By

# **Thamer Alenezi**

ID 4263419

Supervised by

# Dr Alvaro Garcia

# **Mr Andrew Dawson**

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

June, 2019

"Every successful person has a painful story. Every painful story has a successful ending. Accept the pain and get ready for success."

-Unknown

# Abstract

Numerous studies have identified the benefits of cold mix asphalt (CMA) made of bitumen emulsion, compared to hot mix asphalt (HMA) made with bitumen. When CMA made with bitumen emulsion is used, more than 95% of the energy can be saved during its production. Also, heating is not required while mixing and compacting the CMA. However, emulsion mixes are used in the United Kingdom mainly for surface treatments due to weak early life strength, high air voids and long curing times.

This present study investigates the performance of cold mix asphalt made with bitumen emulsion capsules. The initial objective of the research is to produce bitumen emulsion capsules with minimum water content, then mix the aggregates and bitumen emulsion capsules, followed by compaction at ambient temperature to provide enhanced mechanical properties as compared to conventional CMA made of bitumen emulsion. The bitumen emulsion capsules were produced by bitumen emulsion droplets coated by a shell made with calcium-alginate (Ca-alginate). Then the bitumen emulsion capsules were mixed with aggregates and compacted at ambient temperature. The research was undertaken to evaluate the effect of compaction energy, different cement contents, curing times and binder types on the mechanical properties of cold mix asphalt made with bitumen emulsion capsules. This research revealed that the mechanical properties of cold mix asphalt made with bitumen emulsion capsules increase with the increase of compaction energy. Moreover, the mechanical properties of cold mix asphalt made with bitumen emulsion capsules increased with curing time. The study also revealed that Ca-alginate was, itself, an effective binder type that can hold aggregates together resulting in better mechanical properties of mixtures. Thus, it was concluded that a cold mix pavement material made with Ca-alginate binder is a novel material for pavements with potential to be an alternative for conventional cold mix asphalt made with bitumen emulsion.

i

# Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to My wife and child ... My parents, brothers and sister...

Thamer Alenezí,

# Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors, **Dr. Alvaro Garcia Hernandez** and **Mr. Andrew Dawson**, for their guidance and supervision during my PhD studies.

I would also like to thank **Dr. Nick Thom** on his observations and recommendations during the first and second viva of my research.

I am indebted to **Dr. Jose Norambuena-Contreras** for all his contributions to the publication papers of my PhD studies.

I wish to extend my thanks to Jon Watson, Richard Blakemore, Martyn Barret, Lawrence Pont, Mathew Thomas, Laura Weatherby and Antony Beska for their help with the experiments.

Finally, I must express my heartfelt gratitude to all the distinguished individuals who in one way or another assisted me during my PhD studies.

Thamer,

July, 2018

# Declaration

The research was conducted at the Nottingham Transportation Engineering Centre of the University of Nottingham. I hereby declare that this dissertation is my own work and has not been submitted for a degree of another university.

Thamer Alenezí, July, 2018 University of Nottingham

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract Dedication Acknowledgements Declaration	i ii iii iii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background and Problem Statement	1
1.2 Aim and Objectives 1.2.1 Aim 1.2.2 Objectives	2
1.3 Thesis Structure and Outline	2
1.4 Publication List	4
Chapter 2: Literature Review	
2 1 Asphalt Pavement	5
<b>2.2 Types of Asphaltic Materials for Roads</b> 2.2.1 Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA) 2.2.2 Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA) 2.2.3 Half Warm Mix Asphalt (HWMA) 2.2.4 Cold Mix Asphalt (CMA)	6 7 7 7 
2.3 Advantages and Disadvantages of CMA	10
<ul> <li>2.4 Materials for CMA</li></ul>	<b> 11</b> 11 11 14 15
2.5.1 Curing Protocol 2.5.2 Moisture Damage Protocol	<b> 15</b> 16 17
<ul> <li>2.6 Performance Characteristics of CMA</li></ul>	17 18 19 Rapid 21 23 24
2.7.1 Introduction 2.7.2 Spray Drying 2.7.3 Spray Cooling 2.7.4 Coacervation 2.7.5 Lyophilisation 2.7.6 Pickering Emulsion 2.7.7 Extrusion	<b>27</b> 30 31 31 32 34 34

2.8 Assessing Physical Characteristics of Capsules 2.8.1 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)	<b>35</b>
2.8.2 Optical Microscope	
2.8.3 Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM)	
2.8.4 X-Ray Micro-Computed Tomography (X-Ray Micro-CT)	
2.9 Assessing Chemical Composition of Capsules	40
2.10 Alginate as a material and as an encapsulations material	41
2.11 Characterisation and Structure of Alginate	
2.12 Properties of Alginate	
2.13 Variants of Alginate	
2.14 Summary	
Chapter 3: Cold Mix Pavement Material made with Calcium- Alginate	51
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials and Methods	53
3.2.1 Raw Materials	53
3.2.2 Encapsulation Procedure of calcium-alginate capsules and particles	53
3.2.3 Test Specimens Preparation	
3.2.4 Morphological Characterisation of the Calcium-alginate Capsules and	Particles
3.2.5 Water Content of the Calcium-alginate Capsules and Particles	
3.2.6 Density of the Calcium-alginate and Particles	
3.2.7 Marshall Stability test	59
3.2.8 Curing Process of the test Specimens	59
3.2.9 Water Content in the test Specimens at Different Curing times 3.2.10 X-ray Computed Tomography	59 60
2.2 Posults and Discussion	60
3.3 Results and Discussion	
3.3.2 Effect of Compaction and Cement addition on the Mechanical Strengtl	h of CMC
3.3.3 Effect of Binder type and Amount on the Mechanical Strength of Cold	Mixes at
Different Curing Times	64
3.4 Summary	69
Chapter 4: Cold Mix made with Calcium-alginate Capsules the	nat
Contain Bitumen Emulsion and Rapid hardening Cement	70
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and Methods	70
4.2.1 Materials	70
4.2.2 Encapsulation Procedure	
4.2.4 Marshall Stability Test	1/1 77
4.2.5 Curing Process of the Test Specimens	
4.2.6 Water Content in the Test Specimens at Different Curing Times	73
4.2.7 Amount of Water Bound by Cement	73
4.3 Results and Discussion	
4.3.1 Effect of Compaction Energy and Rapid Hardening Cement addition or	n the

Marshall Strength of CMC	. 75
Different Curing Times	. 76
4.3.3 Water Binding with Rapid hardening Cements	. 78
4.3.4 Hardening Process	. 80
4.4 Summary	82
Chapter 5: Moisture Resistance of Cold Mix made with cement- treated Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion	n
	84
5.1 Introduction	84
5.2 Materials and Methods	84
5.2.1 Materials	. 84
5.2.2 Encapsulation Procedure	.85
5.2.4 Curing and Moisture Damage Protocol of Test specimen's	. 85
5.2.5 Laboratory Testing Program	. 86
5.3 Results and Discussion	87
5.3.1 Marshall Stability Test (Group 1)	. 87
5.3.2 Indirect Tensile Stiffness Modulus Test (Group 2) and Indirect Tensile Streng	th
5.3.3 Repeated Load Axial Test (Group 4)	. oo . 90
5.4 Summary	91
Chapter 6: Overall Discussions	92
6.1 Review	92
6.2 Comparison with HMA	92
6.3 Calcium Alginate as a Potential Binder	95
Chapter 7: Conclusions and Recommendations	97
7.1 Conclusions	97
7.1.1 Conclusions Related to Cold Mix Pavement Material made with Calcium- alginate and Aggregates	. 97
7.1.2 Conclusions Related to Cold Mix made with Calcium-alginate Capsules that	00
7.1.3 Conclusions Related to Moisture Resistance of Cold Mix made with cement-	. 90
treated Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion	. 99
7.1.4 Conclusions Related to overall discussion	. 99
7.2 Recommendations 1	L <b>00</b>
References 1	.02
Appendix A1	.15
Appendix B1	.16

# **List of Figures**

Figure 2.1 Layers in a typical flexible pavement (Thom, 2008)5 Figure 2.2 Pavement stiffness and load spreading through asphalt layers (Brown, 1988).
Figure 2.3 The CO <sup>2</sup> emissions and energy consumption (Partl, 2010)
Whiteoak, 2003).12Figure 2.6 Bitumen droplets in an emulsion and their relative size (Chemarc, 2017).13Figure 2.7 Stages in the breaking of a cationic emulsion (James, 2006).15Figure 2.8 Effect of compaction degree on stiffness modulus of CMA (Serfass et al.,
2004)
Figure 2.10 Effect of different cement content on CMA permanent deformation resistance (Oruc et al., 2007)
Figure 2.11 a) Marshall strength (kN) with time and b) Rigidity (kN/mm) with time, for CMA with different amounts of Ordinary Portland cement (OPC) cured at 90 % environmental humidity (García et al. 2013)
Figure 2.12 Amount of water bound for the CMA specimens with 0%, 3% and 6% of Ordinary Portland cement (OPC), calcium aluminate cements (CAC) and calcium
sulfoaluminate cements (CSA), after 1, 7 and 28 days curing (Fang et al., 2016) 22 Figure 2.13 (a) Micro CT image of a cement and asphalt composite (García et al., 2013) and (b) Micro tomography detail of CMA (Fang et al., 2016) 24 Figure 2.14 Influence of CMA with different amounts of cement on resistance to water damage (Oruc et al., 2007)
Figure 2.15 Moisture damage at different additives content on CMA (Nassar et al., 2016).
Figure 2.16 Types of microcapsules (Bevilacqua et al., 2010)
Polynuclear microcapsules containing milk protein (Heidebach et al., 2009) 27 Figure 2.18 Matrix microcapsules containing silica (AZoMaterials, 2013) 28 Figure 2.19 Spay drying process: (1) Atomization (2) Spray – hot air contact (3)
Evaporation of moisture (4) Product separation (Anandharamakrishnan, 2015)
Figure 2.23 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) images of a typical colloidosome showing (a) the assembly of colloidal particles on the interface of an emulsion droplet and (b) and (c) the pares (open space between particles) that control permeability
(Dinsmore et al., 2002)

Figure 2.25 SEM images of double-layered polyurea microcapsules containing
Figure 2.26 Chitosan Microcapsules Microphotograph. The microcapsules were made at 0.5wt% natural coconut oil, 0.5wt% NaOH, and 0.5wt% Chitosan at a stirring rate of
Figure 2.27 Microcapsules containing a nile red stained oil phase, (a) a light microscopy image and (b) CLSM using the red fluorescence channel and transmitted light detection
(Lamprecht et al. 2000)
Figure 2.29 SEM images of capsule; (a) overview of the capsule; (b) zoom-in of the core and the core-shell interface; (c) zoom-in of the shell (Al-Mansoori et al., 2016)
Figure 2.31 Encapsulation process of calcium-alginate beads (Sewiwat et al., 2016) 42 Figure 2.32 Set-ups of five different ways of making microspheres: (a) Jet Cutter , (b) pipette or vibrating nozzle (c), atomizing disk (d), coaxial air-flow (e) electrostatic
Figure 2.33 Chemical structures of G, M and alternating blocks in alginate (Lee and Mooney, 2012).
Figure 2.34 Egg-Box structure of calcium alginate structure (Inoue et al., 2018) 47 Figure 2.35 The water retention of alginate hydrogels (Huang and Yang, 2010)
Figure 3.1 Aggregate size distribution used in the mixture studied
Figure 3.3 (a) Optical image of an individual Ca-alginate capsule containing bitumen emulsion. (b) Fluorescence image of an individual Ca-alginate particle without bitumen emulsion.
Figure 3.4 Test specimen of cold mix pavement made with Ca-alginate with bitumen emulsion
Figure 3.5 Sizes distribution of: (a) Ca-alginate capsules, see Figure 3(a), and (b) Ca- alginate particles, see Figure 3(b)
cement additions
samples
cured for 28 days. (b) CT-Scan detail of a CMA, taken from a test sample, cured for 28 days, with 6% of cement (modified from Garcia et al. 2013)
Figure 4.1 Aggregate size distribution used in (a) Chapter 3, and (b) Chapter 4

Figure 4.3 Variations in the Marshall force resisted by CMC test specimens, after 24h
curing at 20°C due to the effect of Marshall compaction configurations and rapid cement
addition as well as Portland cement addition76
Figure 4.4 Marshall force resisted measured at different curing times for CMC specimens,
with and without 1% of cement77
Figure 4.5 Water content measured at different curing times for CMC specimens with and
without 1% of cement
Figure 4.6 Amount of water bound measured at different curing time for CMC 4C1-50,
CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4RS1-50 80
Figure 4.7 Schematic representation of the hydration process for (a) CMP without
cement (b) CMC with cement
Figure 5.1 Marshall force resisted measured, at dry and wet conditions, after 7/10 and

rigare biz harbhan force resideed medbared, de dry and mee condicione, area , 20 and	
28/31 days curing time for the CMA and CMC, with and without cement	87
Figure 5.2 (a) stiffness modulus and (b) indirect tensile strength measured, at dry and	
wet conditions, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing time for the CMA and CMC, with and	
without cement	89
Figure 5.3 Permanent deformation resisted, at dry and wet conditions, after 28 days	
curing time for the CMA and CMC, with and without cement, compared to the HMA	
specimens, after 24 hours	90

igure 6.1 Marshall force resisted measured, at dry and wet conditions, after 7/10 and	
8/31 days curing time for the CMC 4RS1-50, compared to the HMA specimens, after 24	F
ours9	3
igure 6.2 (a) stiffness modulus and (b) indirect tensile strength measured, at dry and	
vet conditions, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing time for the CMC 4RS1-50, compared	
o the HMA specimens, after 24 hours	4
igure 6.3 Permanent deformation, at dry and wet conditions, after 28/31 days curing	
ime for the CMC 4RS1-50, compared to the HMA specimens, after 24 hours	5

# **List of Tables**

Table 2.1 Typical emulsion recipes in % (Salomon, 2006).	12
Table 2.2 Amended curing procedures for cold mixes proposed between 1999 and 2004	4
(Jenkins and Moloto, 2008)	16
Table 2.3 Overview of common microencapsulation processes.	29
Table 2.4 Comparative physical properties of Alginate and Alchite fibre (Miraftab et al.,	,
2010)	48
Table 3.1 Composition and manufacturing process used for the mixtures studied	57
Table 3.2 Components of the calcium-alginate capsules and particles	61
Table 3.3 Water content in % w/w of the cold mix specimens measured at different	
curing time	66
Table 3.4 Air voids content in % of the cold mix specimens measured at different curin	ıg
time	66
Table 3.5 Density in kg/m <sup>3</sup> of the cold mix specimens measured at different curing tim	e.
	68

Table 4.1 Composition and manufacturing process used for the mixtures studied.72Table 4.2 Variation in the Marshall force resested in kN by CMC test specimens, after 24hcuring at 20°C due to the effect of Marshall compaction configurations and rapidhardening cement addition as well as Portland cement addition.75Table 4.3 Amount of evaporation water in % w/w of the cold mix specimens measured atdifferent curing time.79

Table 5.1 Experimental programme test for CMA specimens, with and without cement. 86

# **Chapter 1: Introduction**

## **1.1 Background and Problem Statement**

Cold mix asphalt (CMA) is one of the most studied types of asphalt emulsion mixes. The main advantage of CMA is that it can save up to 95% of the energy compared to traditional hot mix asphalt (HMA) (Chappat and Bilal, 2003; Chehovits and Galehouse, 2010). There are a variety of ways in which CMA can be produced and this includes using 100% virgin aggregates or utilising RAP. However, previous studies indicate that the application of CMA is still facing many challenges, some of which are associated with the lack of commonly accepted mix design techniques (Lee et al., 2002; Thanaya et al., 2009; Diefenderfer et al., 2012; Stroup-Gardiner, 2012). The lack of consensus is attributed to a number of reasons that include weak early life strength, high air-void, and the long curing times associated with CMA (Ojum, 2015). Accordingly, use of CMA is limited in the United Kingdom largely to surface treatments, such as surface dressing and slurry surfacing, as well as bond/tack coating (Brown and Needham, 2000). In fact, the curing duration and the moisture content have a huge effect on the CMA properties (Mamlouk, 1979; Kim and Lee, 2010; Wirtgen, 2004). Consequently, previous researchers have used additives such as Ordinary Portland cement (Terrell and Wang, 1971; Schmidt et al., 1973; Head, 1974; Needham, 1996; Thanaya, 2003; Oruc et al., 2007; Niazi and Jalili, 2009; García et al., 2013; Fang et al., 2016; Nassar et al., 2016), rapid hardening cement (Thanaya, 2003; Fang et al., 2016), and fibres (Bueno et al., 2003, Ferrotti et al., 2014) to address the long-term performance of CMA and compared it to traditional hot mix asphalt. However, most of the previous attempts failed to deliver the required performance. This research proposes a new approach in which a type of capsule, containing bitumen emulsion, is used in cold mix pavement material. The aim is to improve the strength and reduce the curing time by delivering the binder more uniformly throughout the mix than is achieved by other cold-mix approaches.

# **1.2 Aim and Objectives**

## 1.2.1 Aim

The aim of this research is to investigate the performance of cold mix asphalt made with bitumen emulsion capsules.

## 1.2.2 Objectives

The main objectives of this research are as follows:

- 1. Evaluation of the morphology and composition of the capsules and particles.
- 2. Evaluate the effect of binder type and amount on the mechanical strength of capsule-based cold mixes at different curing times.
- 3. Evaluate the effect of (in various combinations): compaction energy, Portland cement addition, rapid hardening cement addition, curing times and water content on Marshall strength of CMA mixtures made with Ca-alginate capsules containing bitumen emulsion.
- 4. Compare the strengths of the capsule-based mixtures with HMA mixtures.
- 5. Investigate the use of Ca-alginate capsules containing no bitumen emulsion.

# **1.3 Thesis Structure and Outline**

## • Chapter One: Introduction

This introduction describes the background of CMA and the motivation of the research topic. In addition, the problem statement, aim, objectives and thesis outline of this research are included in this chapter.

## • Chapter Two: Literature Review

This chapter provides an overview of asphalt pavements and the types of asphaltic

materials for road pavements. The main focus in the literature review is on the background of CMA. Also, this chapter reviews the encapsulation techniques as well as assessing physical characteristics and chemical composition of capsules. Furthermore, this chapter reviews the alginate as an encapsulation material with its chemical and physical properties as well as the variants of alginate.

# Chapter Three: Cold Mix Pavement Material made with Calcium-Alginate and Aggregates

This chapter presents the size distribution, and morphology of the capsule production, and the mechanical strength of test specimens made with Ca-alginate capsules. This chapter details the effect of cement addition and compaction energy on the mechanical strength of cold mix pavement materials made with Ca-alginate capsules (CMC). This chapter also presents the effect of binder type used, i.e., bitumen emulsion, Ca-alginate capsules or particles and amount on the mechanical strength of cold mixes at different curing times.

# Chapter Four: Cold Mix made with Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion and Rapid hardening Cement

This chapter presents the effect of fast-curing cement on the mechanical strength of CMC. In particular, the focus is on the mechanical strength due to the use of rapid hardening cements and this is compared to the effect of Portland cement in CMC.

# • Chapter Five: Moisture Resistance of Cold Mix made with cement-treated Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion

This chapter presents the mechanical properties of CMC. The main focus is on the mechanical properties of CMC materials, with and without cement, with regard to curing time and moisture content.

## • Chapter Six: Overall Discussions

This chapter describes the main findings from this research. The main focus is on the

mechanical properties of CMC materials, with 1% of cement, both dry and wet condition, comparing to that of HMA.

# • Chapter Seven: Conclusions and Recommendations

This chapter contains the main conclusions and recommendations based on the findings of the study.

# **1.4 Publication List**

# **\*** Conference paper:

Alenezi, T., Garcia, A and Norambuena-Contreras, J., 2018. Mechanical performance of cold mix asphalt with bitumen microcapsules. (Accepted and presented as conference paper)

# Journal paper:

Alenezi, T., Norambuena-Contreras, J., Dawson, A and Garcia, A., 2019. A novel type of cold mix pavement material made with calcium-alginate and aggregates. (Article published in Journal of Cleaner Production)

# **Chapter 2: Literature Review**

# 2.1 Asphalt Pavement

Asphalt pavements are a combination of bitumen and aggregate materials, constructed of different types and in different thicknesses (Martin and Wallace, 1958). Basically, asphalt pavements are widely recognised as flexible pavements consisting of a multi-layer system, which overlies the subgrade (as shown in Figure 2.1). The subgrade as mentioned by Mathew and Krishna Rao (2007), is a natural soil layer that must accommodate the stresses from the layers situated above. However, when the subgrade layer is weak, it is imperative to have a capping layer above it, such as hydraulically bound material (Thom, 2008), to achieve certain strength properties required for the type of pavement being constructed (Garber and Hoel, 2014). The sub-base is the lowest pavement layer and is covered by a base course, as well as wearing course, usually bound with bitumen binder (Yoder and Witczak, 1975; Brockenbrough and Boedecker, 2003). Therefore, a flexible pavement design, as outlined by Martin and Wallace (1958), is rooted in the principle that a load of any magnitude can be dissipated by conveying it deep into the ground by means of successive layers.



Figure 2.1 Layers in a typical flexible pavement (Thom, 2008).

As observed in Figure 2.2, the level of stress induced in overlying layers is dependent on the elastic stiffness underneath each layer. Hunter (1994) reported that the essential pavement design criteria are based on the interaction between the elastic stiffness of the base, the shear stress in the foundation and the tensile stress in the road base. However, Yoder (1975) argued that even though a pavement material with higher stiffness can reduce the risks associated with a subgrade layer, such as shear, the presence of this stiff layer increases the tensile stress underneath of this layer and increases horizontal shearing stress. Therefore, the shear and flexural resistance of this stiff layer must be high enough to sustain high stress conditions.



Figure 2.2 Pavement stiffness and load spreading through asphalt layers (Brown,

1988).

## 2.2 Types of Asphaltic Materials for Roads

Road pavements normally consist of specified mineral aggregates bound by bituminous material. These blends of aggregate and bitumen can be classified into four types: Hot Mix Asphalt, Warm Mix Asphalt, Half-Warm Mix Asphalt and Cold Mix Asphalt (EAPA, 2010). The main differences between these types are the production and compaction temperatures, as discussed in the following sections.

#### 2.2.1 Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA)

HMA is a bituminous mixture produced and compacted at elevated temperatures, generally between 110-180°C. Due to the high temperatures required to produce HMA, a lot of fuel is needed to heat the bitumen and the aggregates. Recent surveys conducted by Skolnik et al. (2013) and Sullivan and Moss (2014) have established that 275 MJ of energy is consumed in producing 1 tonne of HMA, which constitutes up to 15% of the total cost of manufacturing HMA (Chappat and Bilal, 2003; Chehovits and Galehouse, 2010; Sullivan and Moss, 2014).

#### 2.2.2 Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA)

The WMA production temperature typically ranges between 120°C and 130°C and, according to D'Angelo et al. (2008), this asphalt is believed to be a favourable substitute for HMA. The strength and durability of WMA are comparable to that of HMA. However, the difference between WMA and HMA is the lower temperature required to achieve suitable workability. There is also a limited 20-35% burner fuel saving attributed to WMA compared to HMA.

The production process involves adding additives and binding materials to reduce the viscosity of bitumen at medium temperature; these include zeolites, emulsions and wax to facilitate mixing and compaction. Additionally, WMA is considered beneficial because it produces less smoke, fumes, and dust, since the placing and spreading processes occur at lower temperatures.

#### 2.2.3 Half Warm Mix Asphalt (HWMA)

Researchers in the asphalt industry are continually searching for ways of making the process more environment friendly, reducing the consumption of energy, and ensuring that it is cost effective. Punith et al. (2013) comment that, in practice, the asphalt mixing temperatures using WMA could be reduced to temperatures between 120°C and 130°C, but using HWMA, temperatures could be reduced to below 100°C. After heating, they are

mixed and spread at temperatures between 80°C and 90°C. Because temperature remains below 100°C, the aggregates in HWMA have a substantial amount of moisture.

## 2.2.4 Cold Mix Asphalt (CMA)

When CMA is used, more than 95% of the energy required during the production of HMA can be saved (Chappat and Bilal, 2003; Chehovits and Galehouse, 2010), see Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3 The CO<sup>2</sup> emissions and energy consumption (Partl, 2010).

An extensive literature review has revealed numerous types of cold mixtures such as:

Cold Lay Macadam

Cold lay macadams (CLM) are mixtures of low viscosity bitumen and aggregates formed through the addition of flux oil or solvent into the bitumen (cutback bitumen). Flux oil is a moderately non-volatile part of petroleum used as a dilutent for softening bitumen to the required consistency. Nickolls (1998) asserts that there are different types of flux oil: kerosene, white spirit, creosotes, gas oil, and a combination of these. Cold lay macadams have been used for surface dressings, surface macadam and for filling temporary reinstatement work. Robinson (1997) pointed out that such mixtures have revealed low stiffness because of the flux oil.

• Foamed Bitumen

Foamed bitumen was first described in 1956 by Iowa State University professor Ladis H. Csanyi (Csanyi, 1957). Csanyi created the foamed bitumen through injection of waterinto hot bitumen causing a steam-generated foam with a lot of tiny bitumen covered bubbles. The process of foaming lasts for less than one minute before dissipating, whereupon the original characteristics of bitumen are regained. Therefore, mixing with aggregates can be achieved while the binder is still in the foamed state (see Figure 2.4). However, Kendall et al. (2000) found that this process is not suitable for every type of pavement. Moreover, the process needs hot bitumen at a temperature of 180°C so that the foaming action is successful, but this means the risk of heating is high.



Figure 2.4 Foamed Asphalt application for cold pavement recycling (Ebels et al., 2005).

Cold bitumen emulsion Mixture (CBEM)

CBEM is predominantly made up of graded mineral aggregates as well as bitumen held in a water emulsion. This can be mixed and compacted at ambient temperature without the need for heating (Thanaya, 2003). The use of bitumen emulsion in the United Kingdom is largely limited to different types of surface treatment (like surface dressing and slurry surfacing) as well as bond/track coating (Brown and Needham, 2000). After compaction the emulsion 'breaks' and the water leaves the mix (by drainage evaporation or consumption by the hydration process of adjacent cement) leaving a bitumen-bound aggregate (i.e. asphalt).

## 2.3 Advantages and Disadvantages of CMA

As reported in a number of studies such as Needham (1996), Thanaya (2003), James et al. (1996), and Choudhary et al. (2012), CMA has many advantages, including a reduced carbon footprint in the processes of production, lower than every other bituminous mixture. There is also no need to dry the aggregates to be used in emulsion or foam mixtures, and no dust is emitted. Moreover, the total amount of energy required during the production process is less, since heat is only required during bitumen emulsion or foam production, and not during compaction and mixing.

On the other hand, Thanaya et al (2009) stated that there are some disadvantages in the utilisation of CMA, as summarised below:

- High air-void content of the compacted mixtures.
- Weak early life strength (caused by the poor adhesion between cold bitumen and aggregates).
- Long curing times (evaporation of water/volatiles content and setting of the emulsion) required to achieve maximum performance.

Nevertheless, cold mix asphalts (CMA) made with bitumen emulsion are adopted in this research because they are eco-friendly, cost effective, and safe to handle and mix.

10

## 2.4 Materials for CMA

The general contents of CMA include bitumen emulsion (which acts as a binder) as well as aggregates prepared at ambient temperature. The following subsections will provide a brief overview of CMA (including the bitumen emulsion, classification of emulsions, stabilisation theory of bitumen emulsions, aggregate gradation and type).

### 2.4.1 Bitumen Emulsion

An emulsion can be defined as the dispersion of a liquid's fine droplets into another liquid (Needham, 1996). With regard to bitumen emulsions, they are two-phase systems that contain two immiscible liquids (water and bitumen), which are normally stabilised by the emulsifier (Shell Bitumen, 1995). Bitumen emulsions usually consist of 40-75% bitumen, 0.1% to 2.5% emulsifier, and 25% to 60% water (Salomon, 2006).

#### 2.4.2 Classification of Emulsion

The classification of bitumen emulsion is based on the surface charge of the dispersion phase, emulsification technique and the droplet size.

As stated by Read and Whiteoak (2003), the surface charge of bitumen emulsions can be classified into four types: cationic, anionic, non-ionic and clay-stabilised emulsions. The cationic and anionic are the most frequently used emulsions. Cationic emulsions are basically acid emulsions having a pH lower than 7 as well as a positive electrical charge, whereas anionic emulsions are normally alkaline, having a pH value higher than 7 as well as a negative electrical charge (Thanaya, 2003). The typical cationic and anionic emulsion recipes are shown in Table 2.1. Rapid-setting (RS) emulsions are those which normally set rapidly after coming into contact with a clean, low-surface area aggregate, like the chippings utilised in chip seals (surface dressings); while slow-setting (SS) emulsions are those that mix with high-surface area reactive aggregates. However, the most commonly used bitumen emulsions are cationic bitumen emulsions, because they usually lead to favorable interfacial electrostatic interactions, and also can be modified in numerous ways

to meet nearly all requirements (Boulangé and Sterczynskia, 2012; Suleiman, 2006). Figure 2.5 shows a schematic diagram of bitumen during dispersion in an emulsifier.

Cationic RS		Cationic SS	c SS Anionic RS		Anionic SS		
Asphalt	65	Asphalt	60	Asphalt	65	Asphalt	60
Tallowdiamine	0.2	Tallow	0.6	Tall Oil	0.3	Ethoxylated Nonyl phenol	0.5
Hydrochloric Acid, 35%	0.15	y Ammonium Chloride		Sodium Hydroxide	0.2	Lignins	0.5
Soap pH	1.5- 2.5	Soap pH	3-7	Soap pH	11- 12	Soap pH	10- 12
Water	to 100	Water	to 100	Water	to 100	Water	to 100

 Table 2.1 Typical emulsion recipes in % (Salomon, 2006).



Figure 2.5 Schematic diagram of bitumen during dispersion in an emulsifier (Read and Whiteoak, 2003).

As stated by Gibb (1996), the emulsifier in bitumen emulsion reduces the interfacial tension between water and bitumen. The emulsifier acts as a stabiliser in the emulsion

and supports the adhesion between the mineral aggregates and bitumen. Typically, an emulsifier has lipophilic or hydrophobic as well as oleophobic or hydrophilic portions (Thanaya, 2003). The emulsifiers may be supplied to the manufacturer of the emulsion in a water-insoluble form and must be neutralised with an alkali or acid so as to produce the cationic or anionic water-soluble form, which, as mentioned by Salomon (2006), is used in preparing the soap solution. Moreover, to achieve specific properties, additives like anti-stripping agents, stabilisers, polymers, and coating improvers are also usually added (Thanaya, 2003; Salomon, 2006; Redelius and Walter, 2006).

As stated by Needham (1996), the bitumen droplet diameter in emulsions normally ranges from 1 to 30  $\mu$ m, with the majority being <1  $\mu$ m, while the largest mass or volume is between 5 and 10  $\mu$ m, see Figure 2.6. However, the bitumen droplet size distribution is influenced by the recipe of the emulsion, by the bitumen emulsion's operational conditions and the mechanics (Salomon, 2006). For instance, when the emulsifier content is constant, the bitumen droplet size reduces as the stirring speed increases. When the stirring speed is constant, the droplet size of bitumen increases as the emulsifier content decreases (Jada et al., 2004).



Figure 2.6 Bitumen droplets in an emulsion and their relative size (Chemarc, 2017).

#### 2.4.3 Breaking Mechanism of Bitumen Emulsion

Bitumen emulsion has to revert to bitumen to act as binder, and this process is known as de-emulsification or breaking. The precise nature of bitumen emulsion breaking is yet to be understood completely, but it involves three crucial steps: flocculation, coalescence and water removal (Salomon, 2006; Redelius and Walter, 2006).

The interaction between two bitumen droplets is dominated by repulsive force when the bitumen emulsion is stable. Because of numerous factors, a decrease in the repulsive force causes the bitumen droplets to come into contact with each other through a process known as flocculation. In the flocculation process, water remains as a continuous phase, and as the flocs grow the bitumen droplets are bridged by creating cross-links between the flocs, in a process known as coalescence. In this process, bitumen is the continuous phase. In the last step, pure bitumen is formed after the water is removed by drainage, segregation, and evaporation.

Das (2008) stated that the breaking of emulsion relies heavily on the concentration as well as the type of the emulsifying agent. Therefore, the optimum balance between the breaking rate and stability is normally achieved by carefully selecting the emulsion pH, emulsifier concentration and type, and the size of the bitumen droplet (Ojum, 2015). Another factor is the charge on the emulsion. Anionic emulsions work more efficiently with aggregates that are positively charged, such as marble and limestone, whereas the cationic emulsions work better with aggregates that are principally negatively charged. As a result, making an appropriate emulsion-aggregate match offers a more rapid break, as well as improved adhesive properties. Figure 2.7 shows the possible stages while breaking a cationic emulsion.

14



Figure 2.7 Stages in the breaking of a cationic emulsion (James, 2006).

## 2.4.4 Aggregate

CMA can be produced from different aggregate types as well as different gradations, including dense-graded or open aggregates, recycled asphalt pavement (RAP), or virgin aggregates.

In earlier times, semi-dense or open aggregate gradation was used in preparing the cold bituminous emulsion mixtures, in order to allow appropriate aeration in the high air-void mixture, facilitate evaporation of the trapped water and reduce the curing time (Nikolaides, 1983). Lately, even dense gradation is used because most of the water loss is achieved in the first weeks but some remains in the longer term (Oruc et al., 2006). Furthermore, gap-graded or continuous graded aggregates may be used (Ibrahim and Thom, 1997).

Cold in-place recycling has developed significantly, and its rationality has been demonstrated across the globe (Kim and Lee, 2006; Sebaaly et al., 2004; Bergeron, 2005). For instance, Ojum (2015) argued that, in Sweden, cold recycled bituminous emulsion mixtures may be used for base courses, wearing courses, or road bases.

## 2.5 Curing and Moisture Damage Protocols of CMA

Several researchers have applied different curing and moisture damage protocols in order to characterise the performance of CMA. The curing protocols of CMA have been identified, as the outcomes of some of the studies, and procedures for moisture damage protocols have also been proposed. The moisture damage protocols of CMA are usually applied after a period of time. The following subsections provide a brief overview of the curing and moisture damage protocols.

### **2.5.1 Curing Protocol**

According to Jenkins (2000), cold bituminous material curing is a process whereby water is discharged by the compacted and mixed material through evaporation. Water evaporation depends greatly on the weather conditions, which makes it hard for bitumen emulsions to cure properly when subjected to low temperatures, high humidity and rainfall immediately after application (AEMA, 2009). A number of studies have reported that full curing may take place after between 2 and 24 months in the field (Santucci, 1977; Leech, 1994; Thanaya, 2007). Different curing protocols proposed by researchers for South African conditions are summarised in Table 2.2.

**Table 2.2** Amended curing procedures for cold mixes proposed between 1999 and 2004

Curing Method	Equivalent Field Cure	Reference
24 hrs@ ambient+48 hrs@ 40°C (OMC<8%) 45 hrs@ 60°C (OMC>8%)	Emulsion mixes, medium term (1 year field cure)	Sabita (1999)
7 days@ ambient and 28 days@ ambient	Emulsion + cement Emulsion + no cement	Sabita (1999)
24hrs@ ambient in mould+3 days@ 40ºC(sealed)	6-month field cure (foam)	Asphalt Academy (2002)
24hrs@40°C (sealed)+48hrs@40°C ambient (unsealed)	Medium-term cure (foam and emulsion)	Robroch (2002)
24hrs@ ambient 25°C (unsealed)+48hrs@ 40°C (sealed)	Long-term foamed mix cure (1 to 2 years)	Houston and Long (2004)
24hrs@ ambient (unsealed)+48hrs@ 40°C (sealed)	Medium-term cure (foam and emulsion)	Wirtgen (2004)
20hrs@ 30°C (unsealed)+2x24hrs@ 40°C (sealed-change bag midway)	Medium-term cure (foam and emulsion)	Stellenbosch University (2004)

(Jenkins and Moloto, 2008).

As observed in Table 2.2, 40°C was mainly used as the curing temperature so as to obtain the moisture conditions of the field after the curing process. Still, Serfass et al. (2004) observed that evaluation of the cured cold mixes in the laboratory is evidently required. Oke (2011) believed that selecting suitable curing conditions in the laboratory, making sure there is sufficient shear strength in early life and choosing a suitable stiffness for the structural design life, are major problems. In their study, Serfass et al. (2004) noted that curing for 14 days at 35°C and 20% relative humidity is equivalent to almost 1-3 years in the field, under ambient temperature. On the other hand, Bocci et al. (2002) observed that curing for 14 days at 20°C is nearly comparable to 7 days at 40°C. Moreover, curing for 24 hours at 20°C, in addition to 24 hours at 40°C, corresponds to almost one to two weeks (Jenkins, 2000). The full curing protocol according to Thanaya (2003) is one day at room temperature plus one week at 40°C plus another day at room temperature. Furthermore, Oke (2011) recommended that the curing protocol for early life is 40°C for more than 12 hours, for intermediate life it is 40°C for over 72 hours and for fully cured conditions it is 60°C for more than 96 hours.

#### 2.5.2 Moisture Damage Protocol

Semi-cured binder is vulnerable to damage from water during the curing period of an emulsion, because the bitumen is still in a semi-emulsified state (James et al., 1996). Therefore, water damage turns into a potential problem for normal cold mix. According to Oruc et al. (2007), determining water sensitivity of CMA requires the use of either the indirect tensile stiffness modulus ratio (SMR) or the indirect tensile strength ratio (ITSR). Several researchers have applied different curing protocols for CMA in water damage protocols in the laboratory (James et al., 1996; Brown and Needham, 2000; Oruc et al., 2007; Al-Busaltan et al., 2012; Al-Hdabi et al., 2013; Al-Hdabi et al., 2014). Al-Hdabi et al. (2014) and Al-Busaltan et al. (2012) used different curing protocols prior to obtaining the water damage protocol of 3 days at 40 °C, applying the water damage protocol prior to curing the specimens for 7 days, due to the fact that the specimens of the control mix showed very low strength at early age.

# 2.6 Performance Characteristics of CMA

Several studies have been carried out to evaluate the performance of CMA in terms of

mechanical properties. Through the outcomes of some of the numerous studies, the main problems of CMA have been identified, and methods for reducing them have been proposed. The performance of CMA is usually evaluated with reference to hot mix asphalt.

#### 2.6.1 Effect of Compaction on the Mechanical Properties of CMA

Compaction is a significant factor that directly impacts CMA's mechanical strength. Therefore, several laboratory compaction methods such as static, Marshall, gyratory, and vibratory compaction have all been applied in previous studies. However, a debate has ensued on the compaction mechanism that occurs inside the mixture (Needham, 1996; Thanaya, 2003; Niazi and Jalili, 2009; Oke, 2011; Gómez-Meijide and Pérez, 2014a; Miljković and Radenberg, 2016). A case study by Khalid and Eta (1996) in which a Marshall hammer was used to compact the CMA, with 75 blows and 50 blows to each flat face is a good example. The porosity values found were 16.3% and 18.7%, respectively, which indicates that CMA requires heavy compaction to attain a reasonably les voids content. In another study by Serfass et al. (2004), it was evident that gyratory compaction significantly impacts the mechanical properties of CMA. From the findings, it was evident that the CMA stiffness modulus increases with increase in the degree of compaction, as shown in Figure 2.8.



Figure 2.8 Effect of compaction degree on stiffness modulus of CMA (Serfass et al.,

2004).

# 2.6.2 Effect of Curing on the Mechanical Properties of CMA through Addition of Ordinary Portland Cement

An early study by Terrell and Wang (1971) highlighted that Portland cement can overcome the low rate of curing the CMA. In this case, they utilised two types of anionic emulsion: slow setting and quick setting. They added 0-3% of Portland cement, according to the weight of the dry aggregate. As a result, Terrell and Wang (1971) cured the specimens under three conditions: (i) normal conditions, that is to say, 50% relative humidity, at a room temperature of 23.8°C, for periods of one, three, seven and nine days; (ii) adverse conditions, at 90% relative humidity and a temperature of 4.4°C; (iii) ultimate curing achieved after three days in the oven at a temperature of 48.9°C. Terrell and Wang (1971) established that the development rate of the resilient modulus of emulsion-treated mixes was considerably fast-tracked by adding up to 3% cement for early curing. The resilient modulus increased by almost 200%, depending on the type of emulsion. In addition, they revealed that adverse curing conditions slowed down the curing action, when compared to other curing conditions. Nevertheless, adding 1% cement into the mixture solved the delay experienced during the curing process. The effect of adding cement to improve the strength of emulsion-treated mixes that were developing slowly, was investigated by Schmidt et al. (1973), where 1.3% and 3% of cement was added to the mixture. They established that with cement the emulsion-treated mixes cured faster, were more resistant to damage caused by water, and had a higher resilient modulus which developed more rapidly. Head (1974) investigated the effect of cement, curing time and temperature on CMA performance, which was based on the modified Marshal Stability Test using 0-2% cement. He cured the specimens at temperatures of  $4.4^{\circ}$ C and  $10^{\circ}$ C for periods of one, three, five, and seven days. Moreover, he cured three cement-treated specimens at a temperature of 49°C for 3 days so as to achieve full curing. He observed that adding cement had a significant impact on the Marshall stability; specifically, the addition of 1%cement led to a 250-300% increase in stability, compared to the samples that had no cement while curing at a temperature of 4.4°C. Furthermore, he established that, when

19

cured at a temperature of 10°C, the stability increased from 272kg on day one to 363kg on day seven. Without additives as mentioned by Needham (1996), CMA cannot achieve the level of stiffness that the hot mix can. Head's (1974) test results showed an increase both in the rate of curing and in the ultimate stiffness modulus, as evidenced in Figure 2.9.



**Figure 2.9** Effect of Ordinary Portland cement (OPC) on stiffness modulus over curing time (Needham, 1996).

Li et al. (1998) also evaluated the mechanical properties of CMA with Portland cement. This study showed the performance of CMA with Portland cement gaining beneficial properties such as longer fatigue life and higher toughness. Moreover, Oruc et al. (2007) evaluated the mechanical properties of CMA with 0-6% of Portland cement. The results also indicated a considerable enhancement with high Portland cement additions. Figure 2.10 shows the permanent deformation resistance of CMA specimens using different cement contents cured at 40°C in the repeated load axial test (RLAT). Furthermore, García et al. (2013) studied the effect of cement content at 20°C using different relative humidities on CMA. The results of the study revealed that CMA without Portland cement is less rigid and resists much lower forces than hot mix asphalt, even for 28 days of curing at a significantly low relative humidity. However, in the case where part of the filler (1.5–6 % by mass) is replaced by Portland cement, the Marshall strength and rigidity increase

progressively. Figure 2.11 shows the Marshall strength of CMA with different amounts of Portland cement at different curing times with 90 % ambient relative humidity.



Figure 2.10 Effect of different cement content on CMA permanent deformation

resistance (Oruc et al., 2007).



**Figure 2.11** a) Marshall strength (kN) with time and b) Rigidity (kN/mm) with time, for CMA with different amounts of Ordinary Portland cement (OPC) cured at 90 % environmental humidity (García et al., 2013).

# 2.6.3 Effect of Curing on the Mechanical Properties of CMA through Addition of Rapid Hardening Cements

Limited studies have examined the use of rapid-hardening cements to improve the

performance of CMA (Thanaya, 2003; Fang et al., 2016). For example, Thanaya (2003) recommended adding 1-2% rapid-hardening cement instead of using Portland cement to increase early life strength of CMA. The findings of the study revealed that CMA can gain stiffness modulus values of 2000-2500 MPa in only 2 weeks through adding 2%, rather than 16 weeks for CMA without rapid-hardening cement. However, Fang et al. (2016) found that the Marshall stability at 28 days for the CMA with 6 % of calcium sulfoaluminate cements (CSA) and calcium aluminate cements (CAC) was less than for the HMA in the case of cationic emulsion, while for the anionic emulsion it was much closer to the HMA's stability in the case of CSA cement, or even higher in the case of CAC. Moreover, Fang et al. (2016) argued that the increase in the early strength of CMA was attained not only due to the rapid hardening and setting properties of this kind of cement, but also due to the fact that they bind a higher amount of water than Portland cement, as shown in Figure 2.12.



**Figure 2.12** Amount of water bound for the CMA specimens with 0%, 3% and 6% of Ordinary Portland cement (OPC), calcium aluminate cements (CAC) and calcium sulfoaluminate cements (CSA), after 1, 7 and 28 days curing (Fang et al., 2016).

#### 2.6.4 Microstructure of CMA

The microstructure of CMA has been investigated in previous studies. For example, García et al. (2013) demonstrated the detail of the CMA's inner microstructure treated with cement, using an X-ray technique. García et al. (2013) argued that the bubbles, as shown in Figure 2.13(a), possibly appeared because of a suboptimal compaction of the mixture. Air entrainment emanating from the emulsifier in the emulsion is the other probable cause of the bubbles, a point that was confirmed by Pouliot et al. (2003). The other feature evident in the microstructure indicated in Figure 2.13(a) is some degree of aggregate debonding that may be overcome using a different method of compaction and adhesion promoters (García et al., 2013). Another example by Fang et al. (2016) displays a crosssection of CMA with an approximate diameter of 5 mm (see Figure 2.13(b)). The aggregates revealed some cracks that may be caused by sample preparation. Figure 2.13(b) also reveals a large amount of air voids. Pouliot et al. (2003) observed that the CMA air-void content could be as high as 10% at the end of the 28 days thereby exceeding that in HMA (4%). However, this depends on the amount of bitumen (Yan, 2012). From this observation, one could argue that CMA is likely to suffer more from water damage than dense HMA, resulting in de-bonding because of the large amount of air voids (Fang et al., 2016).


**Figure 2.13** (a) Micro CT image of a cement and asphalt composite (García et al., 2013) and (b) Micro tomography detail of CMA (Fang et al., 2016).

#### 2.6.5 Effect of Water Damage on the Mechanical Properties of CMA

The impact of cement on the resistance of CMA to water damage has been observed by a number of authors (James et al., 1996; Nassar et al., 2016; Oruc et al., 2007; Brown and Needham, 2000; Al-Hdabi et al., 2014). In the study conducted by James et al. (1996), the CMA specimens were cured at a temperature of 20°C with, and without, cement for 10 days and then they were soaked under vacuum and stored in water for twenty days. The study revealed bad cracks in the CMA specimens without cement. The CMA specimens did not show any measurable stiffness modulus. On the other hand, the stiffness modulus for CMA specimens with cement was found to be approximately 1200 MPa, which exceeds half the value obtained for un-soaked specimens. In another study, Brown and Needham (2000) observed the water damage in CMA specimens with, and without, any additives of calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>), hydrated lime (H.lime) and Portland cement (under two dissimilar soaking protocols) that had been cured at 20°C for 11 days. They found that the CMA specimens containing Portland cement had greater stiffness as compared to the other

mixtures, after 5 and 12 days in water at room temperature. Moreover, Oruc et al. (2007) considered CMA and HMA specimens with 0%, 1%, 2%, 3%, 4%, 5% and 6% of cement, which were cured at a temperature of 25°C for 3 days. Then, the CMA and HMA specimens having, and lacking, cement were soaked for 1 day in water at 50°C. They established that CMA specimens lacking cement failed after the sixth hour of conditioning, whereas the resistance to water damage of CMA specimens was raised by the addition of cement, as shown in Figure 2.14. In addition, the findings indicated that cement is an effective adhesion agent for CMA.

However, Al-Hdabi et al. (2014) used specimens with, and without, cement at different curing protocols prior to applying the water damage protocol (3 days at 40 °C). The water damage protocol was found to be critical; when water was applied before curing for 7 days, specimens of the control mix revealed very low strength at early age. These curing protocols of 7 days were studied by Nassar et al. (2016) in their quest to assess the water damage of CMA specimens with fine ash (FA), granulated blast furnace slag (GGBS), ordinary Portland cement (OPC), and limestone filler (LF). The results of the study showed that the indirect tensile strength ratio (ITSR) for the CMA specimens with OPC exceeded that of the other mixtures, as indicated in Figure 2.15 below. In addition, Nassar et al. (2016) indicated that the higher ITSR values may have a relationship with additional activation of cement hydration.



**Figure 2.14** Influence of CMA with different amounts of cement on resistance to water damage (Oruc et al., 2007).



Figure 2.15 Moisture damage at different additives content on CMA (Nassar et al.,

2016).

# 2.7 Encapsulation Techniques

# 2.7.1 Introduction

Generally, the technique of encapsulation is a process wherein droplets or small particles are coated to add useful properties. Capsules have been described by Silva et al. (2014) as particles that have an inner core of an active substance that is covered with a polymer layer. For this reason, the particles may be classified into the following types: Polynuclear, Mononuclear and Matrix, (as shown in Figure 2.16).



Figure 2.16 Types of microcapsules (Bevilacqua et al., 2010).

According to Favaro-Trindade et al. (2008), Polynuclear and Mononuclear capsules are differentiated by how the core is divided (as shown in Figure 2.17). Matrix system cores as mentioned by Silva et al. (2003), are uniformly dissolved and/or dispersed in a polymer network, see Figure 2.18.



**Figure 2.17** (a) Mononuclear capsules containing solvent (Stark et al., 2003) and (b) Polynuclear microcapsules containing milk protein (Heidebach et al., 2009).



Figure 2.18 Matrix microcapsules containing silica (AZoMaterials, 2013).

Mallepally (2009) asserts that Carbonless copy paper was the first commercial product in history to use microcapsules. The microencapsulated colourless ink coating is applied on top of the paper sheet and the developer is then applied to the next sheet. When writing, pressure is applied, leading to the breaking of the capsules. As a result, the developer and the ink react to generate a dark coloured copy. Carbonless copy paper is still the most important product that uses microencapsulation technology, and is still produced commercially (Dubey, 2009). Microencapsulation technology has been used in many areas including the agricultural, pharmaceutical, food and medical industries through the encapsulation of such things as microorganisms, colourings, essential oils, sweeteners and flavourings. Ghosh (2006)states that the pharmaceutical industry used microencapsulation technology for many years to prepare capsules containing active ingredients. Also, the textile industry used microencapsulated materials to improve the properties of finished goods (Jyothi et al., 2012). The most notable application is the incorporation of microencapsulated Phase Change Materials (PCMs). The PCMs absorb and release heat according to the changes in the environmental temperatures. That is to say, an increase in temperature results in the melting of the PCMs since they absorb heat, while a decrease in temperature leads to solidification of the PCMs as they release heat. The food industry has increasingly exhibited some complex formulations, such as microorganisms in fermented meat and adding polyunsaturated fatty acids in ice creams,

yogurts and milk, which are vulnerable to auto-oxidation. Also, in instant foods the use of flavour compounds which are extremely volatile, can only be obtained through microencapsulation (Khan et al., 2011; Gharsallaoui et al., 2012). In addition, healing is achieved by including a triggering chemical catalyst and microencapsulated agent on a matrix of epoxy for healing (White et al., 2001). A developing crack breaks trapped microcapsules, giving out a healing agent into the plane of a crack via capillary action. Healing agent polymerization is started by entrapped catalyst contact, sealing the face of the crack. The place-specific autonomic control of repair is provided by the damage initiated triggering process.

This encapsulation technique has been used in various methods in different fields. Some of these are listed in Table 2.3 below:

Technology	Application	Particle size (µm)	Ref.
Spray Drying	Food industry, Pharmaceutical Industry	10-400	(Gharsallaoui et al., 2007; Gouin, 2004; Jain et al., 2012)
Freeze Drying	Food industry, Pharmaceutical Industry	20-5,000	(Madene et al., 2006)
Spray Cooling	Food industry, Pharmaceutical Industry, Chemical Industries etc.	20-200	(Dewettinck and Huyghebaert, 1999; Mishra, 2015)
Extrusion	Food industry, Industrial Ceramics, and Electronic Components.	300- 5,000	(Nedovic et al., 2011; Mishra, 2015)
Coacervation	Textile Industry, Drug Delivery	10-800	(Jyothi et al., 2010; Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010; Arshady, 1990; Nimmannit and Suwanpatra, 1996)
Pickering emulsion	Food, Cosmetics, Pharmaceutics, Oil Recovery etc.	0.75-100	(Katepalli, 2014; Mishra, 2015)

**Table 2.3** Overview of common microencapsulation processes.

In the following paragraphs, different types of fabrication techniques are detailed.

#### 2.7.2 Spray Drying

Spray drying is an encapsulation technique that involves forming an emulsion, suspension or solution that has a core and wall material (Silva, 2014). Once the emulsion has been formed, it is subjected to nebulization, where the emulsion or suspension is dried in a chamber by subjecting it to hot air (Figure 2.19). The heating process results in the evaporation of all the water content, resulting in the material encapsulating (Laohasongkram, 2011). Spray drying as a microencapsulation method has been widely used in many industries, such as in the food industry to encapsulate food flavours and lipids and for pigmentation, among other uses (Gharsallaoui et al., 2007). The microcapsules fall within the range of 0.2-5000 µm and take different shapes depending on the material and technique used in preparation. However, the application of this spray drying encapsulation method is limited to certain areas such as essential oils and microorganisms because the temperatures required can result in destruction of the products.





#### 2.7.3 Spray Cooling

Spray cooling is the other commonly used encapsulation technique. Unlike spray drying, where emulsions are dried by subjecting the contents to hot air, spray cooling does not involve evaporation of solvents (Kirk, 2008). Instead, in spray cooling, the solvents are subjected to lower temperatures below the melting point, to allow the solution to solidify. The particles used in spray cooling range from 20  $\mu$ m up to 200  $\mu$ m. Nevertheless, very small particles are likely to cause problems that include low encapsulation capacity, as well as the destruction of the core during storage. Spray cooling is widely used for encapsulating vitamins and minerals (Rathore et al., 2013). Figure 2.20 is a schematic diagram of the preparation of the spray cooling method.



Figure 2.20 Scheme of spray cooling equipment (Okuro et al., 2013).

# 2.7.4 Coacervation

Coacervation is a common encapsulation method that involves forming a liquid rich

polymer phase using another liquid phase (Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010), see Figure 2.21. Depending on the types of polymers present, the coacervation process can be classified as simple or complex. In simple coacervates, only a single polymer is used, whereas in complex coacervates, two or more polymer types with different properties are used. Coacervation is a desirable encapsulation technique because of its simplicity and the fact that it is a low-cost process. The sizes of particles depend on a number of factors that include stirrer shape, stirring velocity, viscosity, and surface tension, with the particle sizes ranging from 10µm to 800µm. The major shortcomings associated with coacervation are the fact that the process only occurs under limited pH ranges, colloid density, and/or electrolyte concentrations (Comunian et al., 2013).



**Figure 2.21** Schematic representation of the coacervation process: (a) Core material dispersion in shell polymer solution; (b) Coacervate separation from solution; (c) Coating of core material (d) Coalescence of coacervate to form continuous shell (Redrawn from Jyothi et al., 2010).

#### 2.7.5 Lyophilisation

Lyophilisation, otherwise called freeze drying, is an encapsulation technique that involves

the removal of moisture content from the frozen materials under the vacuum sublimation method (Chen and Wang, 2007). This implies that the moisture content is drained out without necessarily subjecting the specimen to high temperatures. The particle sizes of lyophilisation fall within the range of 20-5000µm. Lyophilisation has many advantages. For example, it creates good quality products since the sample is not subjected to high temperature. Because of this, the technique is widely used in flavourings. However, the major shortcoming associated with this method is that it is a lengthy and costly process. To some extent this undermines its usefulness (Marques et al., 2006). Figure 2.22 is a schematic diagram of the preparation of the spray freeze drying method.



Figure 2.22 Schematic diagram of spray freeze drying method (Kho and Hadinoto,

2011).

#### 2.7.6 Pickering Emulsion

Pickering emulsions are any kind of emulsion, be it water-in-oil, oil-in-water or a mixture of both, maintained by solid particles enabled by surfactants (Aveyard et al., 2003; Binks, 2002; Binks and Horozov, 2006). Figure 2.23 shows an image from scanning electron microscopy (SEM) of a colloidosome comprising a droplet of oil in an aqueous state, covered by polystyrene particles measuring 0.9µm in diameter. Additionally, the method can be scaled up with ease. However, the major disadvantage of the Pickering emulsion method is the costly process of removal of things like vegetable oils. Furthemore, the technique requires a vigorous cleaning of microspheres for vegetable oil residue removal (Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010).



**Figure 2.23** Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) images of a typical colloidosome showing (a) the assembly of colloidal particles on the interface of an emulsion droplet and (b) and (c) the pores (open space between particles) that control permeability (Dinsmore et al., 2002).

#### 2.7.7 Extrusion

Extrusion is an encapsulation technique that involves turning hydrocolloids into microcapsules (King, 1995). The hydrocolloid gelations such as pectin, carrageenan and

alginate, contained in mineral contents, have been widely used in entrapping bacteria using the extrusion method. For, the production of bacteria capsules with hydrocolloids such as alginate, alginate solution is prepared and then microorganisms are added into it. Then, using an extruder (pilot scale) or a needle (laboratory scale), the suspension is extruded as droplets into the calcium chloride solution, as shown in Figure 2.24.



Figure 2.24 Schematic diagram of the extrusion encapsulation method (Serna-Cock and Vallejo-Castillo, 2013).

# **2.8 Assessing Physical Characteristics of Capsules**

The dissolution properties and performance with active ingredients of encapsulates are frequently associated with their physical properties. Density is a physical characteristic which depends on the experimental technique used and on the structural properties of capsules (Kelkar et al., 2011). Electron and optical microscopy have been used extensively to offer essential information regarding shell thickness, surface topography, size distribution, and shape in food products. These properties can be measured by techniques such as Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM), environmental scanning electron microscopy (ESEM), Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM) and optical microscopy.

#### 2.8.1 Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Electron Microscopy (EM) utilises an electron beam to form a specimen image (Bozzola and Russell, 1992; Heath, 2005). SEM is among the most widely used instruments in laboratories for the research of the microstructure of materials and it is common in different forms in fabrication plants (Chandlerm and Seraphin, 2002). SEM provides information about topographical features, phase distribution, morphology, compositional differences, crystal orientation, crystal structure, and the location and presence of electrical defects. Beneficially, SEM is able to evaluate samples of varying scale from nanometer to centimetre (Rouche et al., 2006; Shu et al., 2006; Weiß et al., 1995; Yan-yu et al., 2006). For example, the double shell layers from microcapsules can be found in SEM tests (shown in Figure 2.25). However, environmental scanning electron microscopy (ESEM) provides more advanced abilities compared to SEM (Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010). The SEM requires a high vacuum in the specimen chamber to avoid atmospheric interference with primary or secondary electrons, while the ESEM can be operated with a low vacuum (up to 10 Torr of vapour pressure) in the specimen chamber, which allows the investigation of the surface tomography of wet encapsulates (Ren et al. 2007).



**Figure 2.25** SEM images of double-layered polyurea microcapsules containing hexamethylene diisocyanate (HDI) (Sun et al., 2012).

#### 2.8.2 Optical Microscope

An upright typical optical microscope has the ability to characterise structures which measure 0.2µm or more as restricted by the light wavelength (Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010). Frequently, specimen video images or digital images are taken, and then they are analysed quantitatively by using an image evaluation software. For example, citronella oil was observed under an optical microscope by Hsieh et al. (2006), embedded in chitosan microcapsules by using orifice dispensation. The outcomes demonstrated that good microcapsule dispersion and formation were found by using a mixture of 0.5wt% natural coconut oil, 0.5wt% NaOH, and 0.5wt% chitosan as shown in Figure 2.26.



**Figure 2.26** Chitosan Microcapsules Microphotograph. The microcapsules were made at 0.5wt% natural coconut oil, 0.5wt% NaOH, and 0.5wt% Chitosan at a stirring rate of 800 rpm (Hsieh et al., 2006).

#### 2.8.3 Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM)

According to Zuidam and Nedoviæ (2010), optional sectioning of Confocal Laser Scanning Microscopy (CLSM) can produce in-focus images of a fluorescent specimen. A point laser source illuminates the fluorescent specimen, and each volume element of the specimen is related to the discrete fluorescence intensity. It is possible to obtain images of a thick object point-by-point, though a computer software package can reconstruct its three-dimensional structure. The use of gum arabic and gelatin to encapsulate an oil-based active ingredient through a complex coacervation process is a good example. Fluorescent markers are used to label the polymers. CLSM identifies the spatial distribution of both gum Arabic and gelatin throughout the encapsulate shell (Lamprecht et al. 2000). The addition of fluorescently labelled casein to the coacervation process as a macromolecular model compound produces a graded distribution of casein in the shell materials as shown in Figure 2.27. It was observed that casein had the greatest concentration at the oil-wall interface. Another study demonstrated CLSM to be effective in observing cross-linking ions in alginate-poly-l-lysine (PLL)-alginate encapsulates made by fluorescently-labelled polymers and evaluating the distribution of polymers (Strand et al. 2003).



**Figure 2.27** Microcapsules containing a nile red stained oil phase, (a) a light microscopy image and (b) CLSM using the red fluorescence channel and transmitted light detection (Lamprecht et al. 2000).

#### 2.8.4 X-Ray Micro-Computed Tomography (X-Ray Micro-CT)

X-Ray Micro-CT is a technique used to produce three-dimensional complex structures containing a spatial resolution in the range of a micrometre (Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010). X-Ray Micro-CT can be employed for 3D image reconstruction with high internal object structure resolution. For example, Mayo et al. (2012) used X-Ray Micro-CT to examine the self-healing properties of Polystyrene. This involved Poly (Methyl methacrylate) composite polymer material, which was made up of Dichlorobenzene (DCB) solvent and capsules with a diameter of about 60µm. The CT-scan analysis clearly showed the absence of full capsules in the plane of the crack. In addition, there was a larger number of empty capsules in the aged sample, as shown in Figure 2.28.



Figure 2.28 CT scan image of self-healing polymer through material (capsules) (Mayo et al., 2012).

# 2.9 Assessing Chemical Composition of Capsules

Several researchers have used different techniques to determine the chemical composition of capsules. For example, a study by Lamprecht et al. (2000) of the chemical composition of an encapsulated sample was determined from gravimetric analysis, based on the initial concentration and the amount extracted from the capsules and from the volume and density of the dry capsules, by using a Gas Pycnometer. In another example by Peniche et al., (2004), the moisture content of an encapsulated sample is determined from the weight loss during heating in a microwave oven. The inorganic matter of the sample is determined gravimetrically by heating at 550°C in an open vessel under air with constant weight. Moreover, in a study by García et al. (2011) different techniques were used to analyse the chemical composition of capsules that consist of cement, liquid epoxy resin, porous sand and four different types of rejuvenators. Each encapsulation material had a density of 2.315 g/cm<sup>3</sup> for the porous sand, 3.141 g/cm<sup>3</sup> for the cement, 1.127 g/cm<sup>3</sup> for the four rejuvenators. A CT-scan was used to determine the volumetric relationship between the

shell and the core of the capsules. Thermo-gravimetric analysis (TGA) was used to investigate the remaining mass of the capsules at 1000°C in N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere. Furthermore, in a study by Al-Mansoori et al. (2016), the chemical composition of capsules that consisted of sunflower oil, calcium-alginate, cement and epoxy resin was determined from the TGA test results analysis at 1000°C in N<sub>2</sub> atmosphere and the volumetric proportion between the shell and the core of the capsules was determined from the SEM images, as shown in Figure 2.29.



**Figure 2.29** SEM images of capsule; (a) overview of the capsule; (b) zoom-in of the core and the core-shell interface; (c) zoom-in of the shell (Al-Mansoori et al., 2016).

# 2.10 Alginate as a material and as an encapsulations material

Alginate, is a naturally occurring linear anionic polysaccharide (Lotfipour et al., 2012). It is typically obtained from any of the six species of brown algae such as Laminaria japonica, Macrocystis pyrifera, Laminaria digitate, Laminaria hyperborean, Asco phylum nodosum, and Macrocystis pyrifera (Smidsrød and Skja., 1990; Clark et al., 1936). During the extraction process, research shows that sodium chloride or Calcium chloride chemical additive is added to the filtrate in order to aid the precipitation of the alginate. Upon extraction, the alginate salt can be converted into the alginic acid by treating it with dilute hydrochloric acid (Smidsrød and Skja. 1990; Clark et al. 1936). A water-soluble sodium alginate powder is formed after further purification (Rinaudo, 2008). In Figure 2.30, the process of extracting sodium alginate is demonstrated.



**Figure 2.30** The procedure of sodium alginate extraction from brown algae (Sachan et al., 2009).

The alginate material can be formed into beads by appropriate mixing with calcium chloride solution. Figure 2.31 shows calcium chloride being dropped into the sodium alginate forming calcium-alginate beads.



Figure 2.31 Encapsulation process of calcium-alginate beads (Sewiwat et al., 2016)

However, the most widely used method of formation of alginate beads/particles is one in which the alginate solution is dropped into the calcium chloride solution (Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010). Droplets of an aqueous solution of sodium alginate may be dripped into a calcium-chloride gelling bath using simple tools (Figure 2.32) such as a syringe, pipette, vibrating nozzle, spraying nozzle, jet cutter, atomising disk, coaxial air-flow, or electric field. The differences between some of encapsulation tools are stated below.

#### Jet Cutter

The jet cutter is located just beneath the nozzle where the jet is sliced into cylindrical pieces using a fast-rotating gadget made of pieces of wire (Pruesse at al., 2003). Once cut, the jet forms spherical-like beads/particles that fall into the calcium chloride solution and the resulting beads are collected.

#### Vibrating

Whenever the nozzle is vibrated, a wave known as a sinusoidal wave is produced which breaks up the liquid jet into small droplets, with one single drop formed per cycle (Nedovic and Willaert, 2013).

#### **Rotating Disk Atomisation**

This is a technique where the liquid is spread onto the rotating disk, and turned into a thin film by the centrifugal forces created by the rotating disk (Squier, 1973). Once the liquid acquires the correct velocity, it is relocated to the disk rim, where it is spread into small droplets that are dislodged from the disk to create a spray.

#### **Coaxial Air-Flow**

In coaxial air-flow, air is subjected to high pressure and used to spray both the core and wall material mixture that is poured from the top through the air atomiser orifice, from where it is channeled into the gelation bath (Garti and McClements, 2012).

#### **Electrostatic Potential**

This technique uses the differences in electric potential to pull the droplets from the tip of a needle (Mishra, 2015). It is noted that the capsule size may be monitored and controlled easily by simply adjusting the voltage size. In this respect, the higher the voltage used, the higher the electric force that is generated to pull the droplets. Consequently, it results in the production of smaller droplets and, hence, capsules.



Figure 2.32 Set-ups of five different ways of making microspheres: (a) Jet Cutter , (b) pipette or vibrating nozzle (c), atomizing disk (d), coaxial air-flow (e) electrostatic potential (Zuidam and Nedoviæ, 2010).

# 2.11 Characterisation and Structure of Alginate

According to Myrnes (2016), alginate is an uronic acid with a hydroxyl group (-OH) and six carbons (C6). The hydroxyl group is oxidized to form a carboxyl-group (-COO-). In molecular terms, alginate belongs to a polymeric group that is made of two monomers (Guluronate (G) and Mannuronate (M)) that are linked by 1-4 glycosidic bonds. The blocks

are made up of consecutive G residues (GGGG) and consecutive M residues (MMM) as well as having alternating M and G residues (MGM), See Figure 2.33. The G blocks constitute between 25 to 75 per cent of the content (Simensen et al. 2000).



Figure 2.33 Chemical structures of G, M and alternating blocks in alginate (Lee and Mooney, 2012).

# 2.12 Properties of Alginate

Alginate is a biopolymer used in a variety of biomedical applications because it has unique properties, such as non-toxicity and biocompatibility (Aderibigbe and Buyana, 2018). It occurs naturally as a linear anionic polysaccharide extracted from brown seaweed (Sime, 1990). The brown algae have unique chemical and physical properties (Chaudhari et al., 2015).

**Chemical properties of alginate:** Van den Brink et al. (2009), stated that the chemical properties, especially the solubility of the alginate, is determined by free calcium

concentration, the total ionic solution strength, and the pH of the solvent. As shown in Figure 2.30, the conversion of alginic acid to the sodium alginate enhances the solubility of the alginate in cold and hot water (Abo-El-Enein et al., 2017).

**Physical properties of alginate:** The physical properties of alginate improve with molecular weight (Lee and Mooney 2012). An alginate solution formed from a polymer that has a high molecular weight is highly viscous. The viscosity of alginate solution increases as the molecular weight increases thereby making it hard to dissolve a highly concentrated alginate in any given amount of water (Da Silva et al. 2017). The commercially available sodium alginates have weight ranges from 32,000 to 400,000 g/mol. Furthermore, the pH of the solvent affects the viscosity of alginate solutions. The viscosity increases with a decrease in the pH. At a pH value of between 3 and 3.5, the viscosity reaches the maximum point because the carboxylate groups in the alginate backbone are protonated and form hydrogen bonds (Lee and Mooney 2012). Temperature is another element that affects the viscosity of alginate solutions. The increase in temperature causes a corresponding decrease in viscosity, at a rate of 2.5% per degree Celsius. The viscosity of alginate solution during the dissolution process.

Da Silva et al. (2015) stated that the physical properties of the alginate solution are influenced by the preparation method of the alginate particles. The alginate particles are formed through extrusion of the alginate solution through a needle drop-wise in a bath of cations, such as in a calcium chloride solution (Paques 2014). The divalent cations bond solely to the guluronate blocks in the alginate chains because the structure of the guluronate blocks allows high-level coordination between the divalent ions (Lee and Mooney, 2012). The guluronate blocks of one polymer then form junctions with the adjacent polymer chains in the egg-box structure of cross-linking (Figure 2.34). It is important to note that at lower temperatures, the reactivity of ionic cross-linkers such as calcium ions is reduced, and cross-linking becomes slower.



Figure 2.34 Egg-Box structure of calcium alginate structure (Inoue et al., 2018).

# 2.13 Variants of Alginate

In biomedicine applications, alginate is converted into a hydrogel (Lee and Mooney 2012). It is used in treating of wounds, as a tissue engineer, as well as in drug delivery. Hydrogels are high in water content. The hydrogels are formed through chemical and physical cross-linking of the hydrophilic polymers. The physiochemical properties of hydrogels are dependent on the cross-linking type and density, in addition to the chemical composition and molecular weight of the polymers (Lee and Yuk 2007; Varghese and Eliseeff 2006).

The water retention as shown in Table 2.4 by the calcium alginate is as high as 9.9 times more than their initial weight. However, the alginate retention of saline solution is less. Since the saline is identical to the serum found in wounds, it is considered as a better indicator of absorbency in a natural wound environment. The reduction in absorbency and retention is caused by the availability of salts in the saline solution.

Another example by Huang and Yang (2010) displays a water retention of both alginatecalcium chloride (AC) and alginate-calcium-Poly(glutamic acid) (AG), see Figure 2.35. The results of the study showed that the water retention of AG was higher than that of AC. The reason that AG exhibited the highest water retention is due to the presence of glutamic acid.

Fibre	Draw Ratio	Coagulation Bath	Fibre Diameter (µm)	Linear Density (dtex)	Water Retention [g/g]	Saline Retention [g/g]	Fibre Diameter Swell ratio
Alginate	1.15	1.00% CaCl2 solution	36.5	6.1	9.9	6.5	1.6
Alginate	1.23	1.00% CaCl2 solution	30.0	5.6	9.7	7.1	1.4
Alginate	1.31	1.00% CaCl2 solution	30.0	5.2	4.3	6.1	1.6

Table 2.4 Comparative physical properties of Alginate and Alchite fibre (Miraftab et al.,

2010).

	100	
Water Retention (%)	80	<sup>Φ</sup> <sup>Φ</sup> <sup>Φ</sup> <sup>Φ</sup> <sup>AG</sup> <sup>−</sup> <sup>Φ</sup> AC
	60	
	(	5000 10000 15000 20000
		Relative Centrifugal Force (g)

Figure 2.35 The water retention of alginate hydrogels (Huang and Yang, 2010).

# 2.14 Summary

When CMA is used, more than 95% of the energy required during the production of HMA can be saved. In general, CMA is prepared at ambient temperature and it consists of aggregates and bitumen emulsion. The bitumen emulsions typically consist of 40-75% bitumen, 0.1-2.5% emulsifier, and 25-60% water. Therefore, bitumen emulsion has to revert to bitumen so as to act as binder, and this process is known as emulsification or

breaking. However, a number of studies have reported that full curing may not take place until 2 to 24 months in the field. In addition, CMA includes high air void content, which can facilitate water damage and weak early life strength.

Several studies have contributed to evaluating the performance of CMA by using a laboratory compaction method as well as different additives, mainly those consisting of OPC materials under different curing protocols. In short, the studies confirm that the stiffness modulus of CMA increases when the degree of gyratory compaction increases.

Studies have confirmed that the stiffness of CMA increases with the curing time, but that, without additives such as cement, CMA cannot achieve the level of stiffness that hot mix can. Also, studies have confirmed that increasing the amount of OPC materials can improve the mechanical properties of CMA more than HMA with an increasing curing time. However, 1-2% rapid-hardening cement increases the strength more than the same amount of OPC (Thanaya, 2003). In addition, Fang et al. (2016) argued that the increase in the early strength of CMAs was attained not only due to the rapid-hardening cement but also due to the fact that they bind a higher amount of water than OPC.

Several, different, curing protocols of CMA have been proposed in the context of evaluating water damage in a laboratory. Studies have revealed bad cracks in CMA specimens without cement. Plain CMA specimens did not show any measurable stiffness modulus after soaking, while the CMA specimens with cement were found to exhibit approximately 1200 MPa which exceeded half the value obtained for un-soaked specimens. Al-Hdabi et al. (2014) and Al-Busaltan et al. (2012) established a water damage protocol involving 3-days soaking at 40°C. The water damage protocol was applied prior to 7 days of curing the specimens, because the specimens of the control mix showed very low strength at early age.

Furthermore, several studies have shown alginate as a material and as an encapsulation material. This alginate material can be formed in particles/beads by mixing with calcium-chloride solution (Sewiwat et al., 2016). The alginate particles can be formed through

extrusion method. As the study reported in this thesis aims to investigate the performance of a new cold mix asphalt (CMA) made with bitumen emulsion capsules, alternative encapsulation techniques have been investigated. Several different methods such as spray drying, spray cooling, coacervation, lyophilisation, Pickering emulsion and extrusion are available. The extrusion method has been widely used in fields such as food industry, industrial ceramics, and electronic components. Moreover, this extrusion method can be carried out with simple tools such as a syringe, pipette, vibrating nozzle, spraying nozzle, jet cutter, atomising disk, and coaxial airflow, or an electric field making it ideal for this study. Furthermore, the particle sizes produced by this method fall within the range of 300-5000µm, which may be suitable for mixing with the aggregate particles. Therefore it was decided to use the extrusion method in this project.

The study will also investigate the use of Ca-alginate capsules containing no bitumen emulsion. This will help to demonstrate the relative effect of the bitumen and the alginate itself.

# Chapter 3: Cold Mix Pavement Material made with Calcium-Alginate

# 3.1 Introduction

Cold Mix Asphalt (CMA) is a complex road construction material that is manufactured at ambient temperature by mixing aggregates with water and a bitumen emulsion (or foamed bitumen) that acts as the binder. In the United Kingdom, the use of CMA is largely limited to surface treatments, such as surface dressing and slurry surfacing, as well as bond/tack coating (Brown and Needham, 2000). The strength of CMA tends to be easily affected by the exposure to environmental and mechanical factors, such as moisture and continuous traffic loads (Marienfeld and Guram, 1999; Liang and Zhou, 1997). This happens because moisture reduces the curing rate of CMA and increases its damage susceptibility (Choudhary et al., 2012) by effect of the loss of the interfacial adhesion properties of the mixture (Guo et al., 2014). Authors such as Thanaya et al. (2009) and Khalid and Mooney (2009) have reported that CMA presents some disadvantages compared with conventional Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA), such as high air void content, weak life strength, and long curing times. Nevertheless, CMA also presents advantages in terms of costs, ecology, energy savings and health and safety performance compared with conventional hot mix asphalts (Saadoon et al., 2017). Likewise, the flexible performance of CMA makes them especially attractive for low-medium traffic roads (Gómez-Meijide and Pérez, 2014). Some weaknesses of CMA versus hot mixes are principally as a result of their design variables and manufacturing conditions.

In CMA manufacturing, the bitumen emulsion must be reverted into bitumen to act as a binder: a process known as de-emulsification or breaking (Das, 2008; Saadoon et al., 2017). Water inside the CMAs is the main factor that delays their strength gain (Oke, 2011). Water is the second element of bitumen emulsions and comprises between 25% and 60% of an emulsion (James, 2006). The curing of CMAs is a process where water

evaporates from CMA and the bitumen can bind the aggregates together (Saadoon et al., 2017). CMAs thereby gain strength with the curing time (Fang et al. 2015). Previous studies have reported that full curing of the cold mixes by effect of the interstitial water evaporation may take place between 2 to 24 months under field conditions (Thanaya, 2007). Hence, it is very important to remove the water from emulsions of CMA to improve the strength and accelerate the curing time (Fortuny et al., 2007; Jenkins, 2000; Saadoon et al., 2017).

Additionally, to accelerate cold mix asphalt curing and improve its mechanical properties, lime or Portland cement can be added to the mixture (Oruc et al., 2006; Fang et al., 2015). Cement provides improvements to Marshall stability (Wang and Sha, 2010), lower moisture content, curing rates, enhanced strength and material stiffness, and improves the compatibility of the aggregates with the emulsion (Fang et al., 2015). For these reasons, between 1% and 3 % of Portland cement may be added to cold mixes by mass of aggregates (Head, 1974; Thanaya, 2007).

This chapter describes the preparation of Cold Mix pavement Materials made with calciumalginate Capsules (CMC) or Particles (CMP) as an alternative material to conventional Cold Mix Asphalt (CMA). To do that, bitumen emulsion has been encapsulated in a calciumalginate matrix and, calcium-alginate particles have been manufactured. The capsules and particles were then mixed with aggregates and compacted, it was found that they created a composite material that is stronger than standard CMA. In the chapter, the influence of the amount of calcium-alginate capsules and particles is evaluated. Furthermore, the effect of compaction energy, curing time and cement additions on the mechanical properties of CMC and CMP is evaluated.

## **3.2 Materials and Methods**

#### 3.2.1 Raw Materials

Limestone aggregates, bitumen emulsion, Portland cement and bitumen were used in this study. Raw materials for calcium-alginate capsules and particles consisted of a cationic bitumen emulsion K1-60, 60% bitumen content, with density of 1.03g/cm<sup>3</sup>, sodium alginate (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>7</sub>O<sub>6</sub>Na) and, calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) in granular pellets and 93% purity. The aggregates used were well-graded crushed limestone, with size between 14mm and a few microns (see the aggregate gradation in Figure 3.1), aiming at a dense mix following a further carve, see Appendix B. Portland cement type CEM I 52.5 N was used as a filler replacement to improve the properties of CMC. Finally, virgin bitumen of 160/220 penetration grade was used to manufacture hot mix asphalt for comparison purposes, matching the penetration of the bitumen in the emulsion.



Figure 3.1 Aggregate size distribution used in the mixture studied.

#### 3.2.2 Encapsulation Procedure of calcium-alginate capsules and particles

The calcium-alginate capsules were prepared by ionotropic gelation of alginate in the presence of calcium. Figure 3.2 shows a schematic diagram of the preparation of the

#### capsules.

The encapsulation procedure used in this chapter is as follows:

- First, 800ml of bitumen emulsion, 100g of sodium alginate and 1200ml of deionised water were pre-heated at 95°C, introduced into a 2500ml Pyrex glass container that was on a hot plate to maintain the temperature at 95°C and stirred at 6000rpm for 15min until a stable bitumen-alginate emulsion was produced.
- At the same time, a calcium chloride solution was prepared by mixing 250ml of deionised water with 15g of calcium chloride in a 500ml Pyrex glass container that was on a hot plate prepared to maintain the solution at 95°C and, stirred at 400rpm for 15min to produce a stable calcium chloride solution.
- Then, the calcium chloride solution at 95°C was placed into a blender device and stirred at 13600rpm for 1min. Capsules were produced by letting the bitumenalginate emulsion drop into the calcium chloride solution from a 1000ml pressure equalising dropping funnel (at an approximate speed of 1.7mm/min) with a 3mm outlet size, the blades in the blender cut the drops before the calcium-alginate had hardened, producing capsules of approximately 0.5 mm diameter. The bitumen emulsion was encapsulated into a polymeric porous structure by the cross-linking of calcium-alginate via ionotropic gelation of sodium alginate in the presence of calcium ions. Al-Mansoori et al (2017) and Norambuena-Contreras et al (2018) have used this encapsulation technique with successful results to produce calcium-alginate (Ca-alginate) capsules with asphalt for self-healing purposes.
- After this, the capsules were left in the calcium chloride solution for 24h, to reduce their temperature to 20±1°C. Then, the capsules were sieved and washed with deionised water. They were dried for 30min under the constant movement of air at 20±1°C, produced by a fan. Finally, the Ca-alginate capsules containing bitumen emulsion were stored in a freezer, at -20°C to minimise any possible degradation.



**Figure 3.2** Schematic diagram of the preparation of Ca-alginate capsules containing bitumen emulsion. The procedure is also applicable to the manufacturing of the Ca-alginate particles without bitumen emulsion.



**Figure 3.3** (a) Optical image of an individual Ca-alginate capsule containing bitumen emulsion. (b) Fluorescence image of an individual Ca-alginate particle without bitumen emulsion.

Furthermore, the same proportions of calcium-chloride, sodium alginate, water and the same experimental procedure were selected to manufacture Ca-alginate particles, which did not contain bitumen emulsion. These particles were made with the intention of evaluating the binding effect of bitumen emulsion. Examples of an individual calciumalginate capsule that contains bitumen emulsion and a calcium-alginate particle without bitumen emulsion are shown in Figure 3.3(a) and (b), respectively.

## **3.2.3 Test Specimens Preparation**

A preliminary investigation of different compaction techniques such as Marshall, gyratory and vibratory compaction were used in this study. The Marshall compaction is almost certainly better than other compaction techniques used in this study and for more details, see Appendix A. Therefore, Marshall test specimens with 100 mm diameter and 50 mm height were prepared (see Figure 3.4). Table 3.1 describes the manufacturing process for the 15 different types of mixture evaluated in the study. The raw materials used in the preparation of the mixtures such as bitumen, bitumen emulsion, calcium-alginate capsules and calcium-alginate particles with, and without, cement addition, were manufactured in batches with 3060 g of aggregates. The amount of raw materials in the mixture was added by total weight of aggregates, see percentages in Table 3.1.



Figure 3.4 Test specimen of cold mix pavement made with Ca-alginate with bitumen emulsion.

Mixture type	Manufacturing process description	Abbreviation	Purpose
Hot Mix Asphalt	Raw materials were pre-heated at 160°C for 2h. Then, aggregates with 3% of bitumen were mixed in a planetary mixer for 2 min at 160°C and poured into the Marshall moulds. The mixtures were compacted at 140°C applying 50 blows on each flat face.	НМА	Reference Material.
Cold Mix pavement material made with calcium- alginate Capsules (see Figure 3(a)) that contain bitumen emulsion (CMC)	Aggregates, 4% or 10% w/w of calcium-alginate capsules (%Cap: 4, or 10, respectively) and 0%, 1%, 2% or 3% of cement (%Cem: C0, C1, C2 and C3, respectively) were mixed for 2 min at 20±1°C, followed by 60s of mixing by hand. Then, the mixture was poured into Marshall moulds and compacted by applying 20, 40, 50, 70, 80 or 100 blows (N <sub>Blows</sub> : 20, 40, 50, 70, 80, 100, respectively) on each flat face of the specimens.	CMC %Cap %Cem - N <sub>Blows</sub> e.g. CMC 4C1-50 means that 4% w/w of capsules were used, 1% w/w of cement was added and, 50 blows were applied to compact the mixture.	Novel mix to investigate use of capsules to deliver emulsion more uniformly.
Cold Mix pavement material made with calcium- alginate Particles (see Figure 3(b)) (CMP)	Aggregates with 4% or 10% of calcium-alginate particles (%Par: 4, or 10, respectively) were mixed for 2 min at 20±1°C, followed by 60s of mixing by hand. After this, the mix was poured into the Marshall moulds and compacted always by applying 50 blows on each flat face.	CMP %Par %Cem - N <sub>Blows</sub> e.g. CMP 4C0-50 means that 4% w/w of calcium- alginate particles were used, 0% w/w of cement was added and, 50 blows were applied to compact the mixture.	Mix added to distinguish contribution of alginate alone.
Cold Mix Asphalt (CMA)	150 ml of water and aggregates were mixed for 1 min at 20±1°C. Then, 7% or 17% w/w of bitumen emulsion (%E: 7, 17) and 0% or 1% of cement (%Cem: C0 and C1, respectively) were mixed for 3 min followed by 60s of mixing by hand. After, the mixes were poured into Marshall moulds and compacted always by applying 50 blows (N <sub>Blows</sub> : 50) on each flat face of the specimens.	CMA %E %Cem - N <sub>Blows</sub> e.g. CMA 7C1-50 means that 7% of bitumen emulsion and 1% w/w of cement were used and, 50 blows were applied to compact the mixture.	Conventional CMA for comparison of performance.

**Table 3.1** Composition and manufacturing process used for the mixtures studied.

The 3% of bitumen in the HMA mix, as shown in Table 3.1 was chosen based on a previous study conducted by Al-Sayed et al. (1995). The aim was to obtain a HMA material with comparable stiffness and strength to that of the CMA with 7% w/w bitumen emulsion (although, in fact, it was somewhat more competent as later chapters reveal). Additionally, The 4% and 10% of particles or capsules in the CMP or CMC mixes, as shown in Table 3.1 were selected to be compared with the approximately 4% and 10% of residual bitumen in the CMA.

# 3.2.4 Morphological Characterisation of the Calcium-alginate Capsules and Particles

The morphology of the Ca-alginate capsules and particles was evaluated by Optical microscopy, Fluorescence microscopy and Environmental Scanning Electron Microscopy (ESEM). To determine the size distributions of the capsules and particles, more than 120 capsules and particles were randomly selected and examined by using a stereo microscope at 5 and 20 magnification. The ESEM scanner of samples containing Ca-alginate capsules and particles was also carried out.

#### 3.2.5 Water Content of the Calcium-alginate Capsules and Particles

To measure the accessible water content in the calcium-alginate capsules and particles, 3 samples of approximately 50g of each type were dried in an environmental room with constant movement of air, at  $20\pm1^{\circ}$ C for 24h. After 24h, the capsule and particle samples were dried using a silica desiccant for 8h, and then weighed using a precision balance.

#### 3.2.6 Density of the Calcium-alginate and Particles

To determine the density of the calcium-alginate capsules and particles, a Helium Pycnometer was used. It was chosen because it has the ability to measure the real density of a granular or porous solid by determining the volume of the solid portion isolated. The test was carried out at room temperature  $20\pm1^{\circ}$ C, and 3 samples of approximately 0.2g of each capsule and particle type were poured into a sealed sample chamber size 1cm<sup>3</sup>

within the pycnometer. Finally, the density of calcium-alginate capsules and particles was recorded at 20min at a pressure value of 165kPa.

#### 3.2.7 Marshall Stability test

The Marshall Stability test was used in this study to measure the mechanical performance of the pavement materials studied. The tests were executed according to BS EN 12697-34, at 20±1°C, and the loading speed rate applied in the specimens was 50mm/min. The test temperature was chosen based on previous study conducted by Garcia et al. (2013). In the case of the hot mix asphalt, the specimens were immersed in a water bath at 60°C for 40 minutes before testing, and the elapsed time between the removal of the specimens from the water bath to the test did not exceed 30 seconds. The Marshall results shown are the average of 3 tests.

#### 3.2.8 Curing Process of the test Specimens

All the Marshall test specimens of the CMA, CMC, and CMP materials studied (see Table 3.1) were demoulded after compaction, and cured at room temperature, 20±1°C and relative humidity of 60% for six different curing times: 1, 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28 days (Garcia et al. 2013; Gómez-Meijide and Pérez, 2014).

#### 3.2.9 Water Content in the test Specimens at Different Curing times

Water content in the Marshall test specimens was measured following the procedure described by Garcia et al. (2013). For that, the mass of each test specimen at the different curing times (from 1 to 28 days) was recorded using a balance with a precision of 0.5g. Then, after 28 days, the same test specimens were dried at 90°C for 12h and weighed again to determine the remaining amount of water in the mixture and the water content of each sample was calculated by the following equation:

$$WC_m = \left(\frac{m_{ct_i} - m_{dry}}{m_{dry}}\right) \times 100 \tag{1}$$
Where  $m_{cti}$  is the mass in (g) of the test specimen at a specific curing time *i*, and  $m_{dry}$  is the mass in (g) of the same test specimen after 28 days and dried at 90°C for a period of 12 h.

### 3.2.10 X-ray Computed Tomography

X-ray computed tomography (CT-Scan) was used to evaluate and compare the air voids distribution in 50mm length and 50mm width test samples of CMC 4C2-50 that had been cured for 1 day, and HMA. For CT-Scan characterization, a micro CT system operated at 160kV and 63µA with a pixel size 55µm was used. Additionally, a small sub-sample of approximately 5 mm long taken from the CMC 4C2-50 sample was also examined. The micro CT system operated at 60kV and 83µA with a pixel size of 5.7µm was also used.

# 3.3 Results and Discussion

# 3.3.1 Evaluation of the Morphology and Composition of the Capsules and Particles

Based on the optical microscopy measurements, it was found that the size of the Caalginate capsules and particles exhibited a normal distribution curve with the majority of agglomeration diameters ranging from 0.4mm to 0.64mm for capsules, Figure 3.5(a), and from 0.4mm to 0.74mm for particles, Figure 3.5(b).



**Figure 3.5** Sizes distribution of: (a) Ca-alginate capsules, see Figure 3(a), and (b) Caalginate particles, see Figure 3(b).

By knowing that the average water content was approximately 67% in the capsules and 73% in the particles (meeting the expectation of high water content refer to Section 2.13), the density of the capsules was 1.12g/cm<sup>3</sup>, the density of the bitumen emulsion was assumed to be 1.03g/cm<sup>3</sup>, and the density of the calcium-alginate polymer was 1.74 g/cm<sup>3</sup>, the composition of Ca-alginate particles can be readily calculated and the composition of Ca-alginate capsules can be assessed by using the following two equation system:

$$M_{b} + 67 + M_{p} = 100$$

$$\rho_{b-cap} \times \left(\frac{M_{b}}{\rho_{b}} + 67 + \frac{M_{p}}{\rho_{p}}\right) = 100$$
(2)

where  $M_b$  and  $M_p$  are the mass proportions, expressed as percentages of bitumen emulsion and calcium-alginate, respectively;  $\rho_{b-cap}$  is the density of the capsules;  $\rho_b$  is the density of the bitumen emulsion; and  $\rho_p$  is the density of the calcium-alginate polymer.

Table 3.2 presents the composition for the Ca-alginate capsules and particles.

Binder type	Percentage (%) in mass of the raw materials				
Bilder type	Bitumen emulsion	Water	Calcium-alginate		
Capsules (see Figure 3(a))	8	67	25		
Particles (see Figure 3(b))	-	73	27		

**Table 3.2** Components of the calcium-alginate capsules and particles.

# 3.3.2 Effect of Compaction and Cement addition on the Mechanical Strength of CMC

Figure 3.6 shows the average Marshall force resisted by CMC specimens made with capsules and 3 different cement contents, after 24h curing, at 20°C. In every case, the force resisted increased approximately linearly with the number of blows applied; e.g., in the CMC 4C0 mixtures, from 2.21kN at 20 blows to 9.22kN at 100 blows. Moreover, the force resisted by the CMC increased approximately proportionally to the amount of cement addition. For instance, in the CMC with 0%, 1%, 2% and 3% of cement the slopes were 0.08kN/blow, 0.12kN/blow, 0.17kN/blow and 0.21kN/blow, respectively. It is unclear if

the strength increase caused by cement is mainly due to the hydration properties of the cement or to the interaction of the cement's hydration product and calcium-alginate. Further research is still required to understand this more fully.



**Figure 3.6** Variations in the Marshall force resisted by CMC test specimens, after 24h curing at 20°C due to the effect of Marshall compaction configurations and Portland cement additions.

Additionally, the average strength registered for HMA, compacted with 50 blows per flat face, is also shown in Figure 3.6. For the same number of compaction blows, the average force resisted by the HMA specimens was similar to that of CMC 4C2-50. Note that although the testing temperature of HMA was 60°C while CMC 4C2-50 was tested at 20°C, later chapter will revealed that the material is indeed of similar competency to HMA.

Moreover, Figure 3.7 shows the average air void distribution across the height of CMC 4C2-50 and HMA samples, measured from CT-Scan images. It can be observed that the air void contents across both test samples (line A-A') were approximately 7.2% and 7.6%, respectively. CMC shows very similar strength and air void content to HMA after 24h curing, which may be due to the interaction of the cement's hydration products with the Ca-alginate capsules' materials, although further research is still required to understand the reasons for this.



**Figure 3.7** Air voids distribution along the vertical axis of CMC 4C2-50 and HMA test samples.

Figure 3.8(a) shows an example of a CT-Scan cross-section image of the internal microstructure of CMC 4C2-50, after 24 hours curing. In this figure, it can be observed that, although the shape of the capsules has adapted to the solid skeleton of the material, the bitumen in the capsules remained unmixed. Furthermore, most of the bitumen emulsion in the capsules, remained unmixed and unbonded to the aggregates. This, and the low amount of bitumen used in CMC are indications that bitumen is not the main bonding material in CMC. Moreover, a dense binder can be observed between the particles, which may be composed of cement and calcium-alginate. It is important to comment on the existence of inorganic-organic composite building materials, composed of sticky rice and lime, which were used in ancient China as a binder in public constructions, such as roads, or walls (Yang et al., 2010). The inorganic component was calcium carbonate, and the organic component was amylopectin, which comes from the sticky rice soup added to the mortar and works by combining chemically with the lime and inhibiting the growth of calcium carbonate crystals, which produced a very compact microstructure. This material had lower water absorption properties, higher strength, and lower shrinkage than lime used on its own (Luo and Zhang, 2013). The authors hypothesize that unreacted alginate remained in the capsules and alginate may have reacted with the cementitious materials to produce a binder that is equivalent to that reported by Yang et al. (2010) and Luo and Zhang (2013) between sticky rice, which has a similar composition to that of alginate, see Sachan et al. (2010), and lime. This remains to be investigated.



**Figure 3.8** (a) CT-Scan detail of a cold mix pavement material sample CMC 4C2-50, cured for 28 days. (b) CT-Scan detail of a CMA, taken from a test sample, cured for 28 days, with 6% of cement (modified from Garcia et al. 2013).

Finally, by comparing Figure 3.8(a) to Figure 3.8(b), the latter corresponding to a CMA with 6% of cement (reported in Garcia et al., 2013), it can be observed that CMC shows a much denser microstructure, which corresponds to a lower amount of water in the material and helps to explain its early strength acquisition.

# **3.3.3 Effect of Binder type and Amount on the Mechanical Strength of Cold Mixes at Different Curing Times**

Figure 3.9(a) shows the average results of Marshall force registered at different curing times for CMA, CMC and CMP test specimens. All specimens have been compacted with 50 blows on each flat face. From Figure 3.9(a) it can be concluded that:

1) The strength of CMA, CMC and CMP specimens increased with the curing time, and

2) The strength resisted by all the materials depended on the type of binder used, i.e., bitumen emulsion, Ca-alginate capsules or particles and,

3) The strengths also depended on the amount of binder added to the mixtures. From these data, it is relevant to note that the mass percentage of bitumen contained in the CMC specimens with 4% and 10% of capsules was 0.20% and 0.50%, respectively. This represents amounts of 15 and 6 times less bitumen, than in HMA. Likewise, the amount of calcium-alginate contained in CMC made with 4% and 10% of capsules was 0.98% and 2.46%, respectively.



**Figure 3.9** Marshall force registered at different curing times for (a) CMA, CMC and CMP without cement, and (b) CMA and CMC with 1% Portland cement.

In Figure 3.9(a) it can be observed that the force resisted by CMA 7C0-50 and CMA 17C0-50 at 1 and 28 days curing increased from 1.15kN to 9.29kN, and from 0.51kN to 5.15kN, respectively. This increase of the strength with time is consistent with the conclusions published by Saadoon et al. (2017) that indicated that CMA gained strength with the curing time due to the evaporation of water from the road's surface. The addition of bitumen emulsion introduces an excess of water in the mix, which delays the adhesion of bitumen to the aggregates and increases the required curing time. For example, the mixture with 17% bitumen emulsion (CMA 17C0-50) showed lower strength than the mixture with 7% emulsion (CMA 7C0-50). This can be seen by comparing the results of average water content for both mixes, shown in Table 3.3 and Table 3.4 where it is observed that the water contents and air voids contents for CMA specimens with 17% of bitumen emulsion were always greater than these of specimens with 7% for all evaluated curing times. This effect also occurred in the cold mix specimens containing different amounts of Ca-alginate capsules (CMC) with bitumen emulsion and Ca-alginate particles (CMP), where higher contents of capsules, from 4% to 10%, did not increase the strength of the mixture, probably as a result of the increase in the water content of the test specimens, although this hypothesis must still be confirmed in further research.

**Table 3.3** Water content in % w/w of the cold mix specimens measured at different curing time.

Mixture type	Curing time (days)							
Mixture type	1	3	7	14	21	28		
CMA 7C0-50	3.51	2.63	1.58	0.9	0.68	0.45		
CMA 17C0-50	4.88	3.8	2.71	1.47	1.22	0.96		
CMP 4C0-50	0.95	0.69	0.36	0.26	0.19	0.13		
CMP 10C0-50	3.09	1.89	0.98	0.74	0.64	0.44		
CMC 4C0-50	0.86	0.65	0.28	0.18	0.14	0.11		
CMC 10C0-50	2.84	1.79	0.84	0.63	0.52	0.42		
CMA 7C1-50	3.32	2.49	1.48	0.76	0.53	0.34		
CMA 17C1-50	4.68	3.59	2.54	1.29	1.05	0.78		
CMC 4C1-50	0.81	0.6	0.24	0.13	0.1	0.06		
CMC 10C1-50	2.61	1.63	0.78	0.55	0.42	0.31		

Table 3.4 Air voids content in % of the cold mix specimens measured at different curing

time.

Mixture type			Curing tir	ne (days)		
Mixture type	1	3	7	14	21	28
CMA 7C0-50	11.8	12.9	14.2	15.1	15.4	15.6
CMA 17C0-50	13.0	14.5	15.9	17.4	17.7	18.1
CMP 4C0-50	9.2	9.5	9.8	9.9	10.1	10.2
CMP 10C0-50	11.8	13.3	14.4	14.6	14.8	15.0
CMC 4C0-50	9.4	9.6	10.0	10.1	10.1	10.2
CMC 10C0-50	11.4	12.7	13.8	14.1	14.2	14.3
CMA 7C1-50	10.6	11.7	13.0	13.9	14.2	14.5
CMA 17C1-50	12.5	13.8	15.2	16.8	17.1	17.4
CMC 4C1-50	8.5	8.9	9.2	9.4	9.4	9.4
CMC 10C1-50	10.2	11.5	12.6	12.8	13.0	13.1

Figure 3.9(a) shows that CMC 4C0-50 and CMC 10C0-50, made with Ca-alginate capsules had higher strength than all the CMA test specimens evaluated in this figure. The different structures in Figure 3.10(a) and Figure 3.8(b) indicates the densities, with the different densities it shows different strength. Densities are shown in Table 3.5, for all curing times. Furthermore, the strength of CMP 4C0-50 and CMP 10C0-50 was remarkably similar to the strength of equivalent CMC materials, at every curing time, although approximately 5% lower. This result can be due to the bitumen in the capsules, which helped the bonding of the aggregates and therefore increased the mechanical strength of the mixtures. As an indication of this, in Figure 3.10(b), it can be observed that small globules of bitumen are well integrated within the binder. In addition, it can be observed that in mixtures with 4%of capsules, bitumen played an important role on the binding of the aggregates, especially during the first 14 days curing. Moreover, the fact that the Marshall force resisted by the material was lower with higher additions of binder, points to an optimum amount that must be studied in further research. Based on the previous results, it can be concluded that calcium-alginate was the main contributor to the increase of strength of the material and cold mixes made with capsules and particles and likewise Ca-alginate particles can be used as an excellent alternative as binder in cold mixes instead of bitumen emulsion.



Figure 3.10 ESEM images of the binder's detail for mixes: (a) CMP 4C0-50 and, (b) CMC 4C1-50.

Mixture type	Curing time (days)							
Mixture type	1	3	7	14	21	28		
CMA 7C0-50	2244	2216	2183	2161	2152	2147		
CMA 17C0-50	2025	1992	1959	1924	1916	1908		
CMP 4C0-50	2408	2399	2390	2387	2384	2382		
CMP 10C0-50	2263	2224	2197	2191	2186	2180		
CMC 4C0-50	2324	2318	2307	2304	2304	2302		
CMC 10C0-50	2103	2072	2047	2039	2036	2034		
CMA 7C1-50	2248	2220	2187	2164	2156	2150		
CMA 17C1-50	2018	1987	1954	1919	1911	1903		
CMC 4C1-50	2318	2309	2301	2295	2295	2295		
CMC 10C1-50	2106	2078	2052	2047	2042	2039		

**Table 3.5** Density in kg/m<sup>3</sup> of the cold mix specimens measured at different curing time.

Figure 3.9(b) shows the influence of the addition of 1% Portland cement on the Marshall force resisted, measured at different curing times in CMA and CMC materials. It can be observed that cement addition improved the strength of all the materials studied, which is consistent with results found by Fang et al. (2016), where the cement increased the strength of CMA specimens.

By comparing the forces resisted by CMA and CMC in Figure 3.9(b), it was found that CMC with 4% of capsules increased its strength throughout the curing period, while CMC with 10% of Ca-alginate capsules specimens nearly stopped gaining strength after 7 days curing, which may be due to the combination of excess of water, which reduced the strength of the specimens, and an excessive pore size, which limited capillary evaporation from the test specimens (Saadoon et al. 2017). Adding 1% of cement was not enough to fully overcome this problem. Finally, by comparing all the water content results of Table 3.3 with the Marshall forces in Figure 3.9(a) and (b), one can conclude that the strength of all the materials studied is approximately inversely proportional to the amount of water present in the mixture, independent of the binder used.

# 3.4 Summary

This chapter has been prepared in the frame of research focused on the development of Cold Mix pavement materials made with calcium-alginate capsules (CMC) rather than with just bitumen emulsion, as is normally done. The initial objective was to remove most of the water in cold mix asphalt by encapsulating bitumen droplets. The encapsulation method allowed the preparation of polynuclear capsules with bitumen emulsion encapsulated, with a membrane made of calcium-alginate. Capsules were mixed with aggregates at ambient temperature. During mixing, it was the intention that the capsules containing bitumen emulsion would break, release their content and coat the aggregates. To study CMC, an extensive experimental programme has been carried out to evaluate the effect of compaction energy, cement content, curing time and binder type on the mechanical properties of CMC. It was found that CMC test samples increased their Marshall stability linearly with the increase of the compaction energy. Test samples could be demoulded immediately after compaction. Furthermore, the Marshall stability of CMC increased with curing time, and the general strength improved with increasing amount of capsules in the mixture. It was found that the bitumen in CMC did not play an important role in the strength of the pavement material, as much remained encapsulated, but that strength gains came mainly from the alginate in the capsules. In short, cold mix pavement materials made with calcium-alginate (Ca-alginate) capsules is a novel material for pavements that has shown potential to be an alternative for conventional cold mix asphalt made with bitumen emulsion.

69

# Chapter 4: Cold Mix made with Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion and Rapid hardening Cement

# 4.1 Introduction

Limited studies have examined the use of rapid hardening cements to evaluate the performance of cold mix asphalt (CMA), see Section 2.6.3.

This chapter aims to accelerate the reaction of Cold Mix pavement material made with calcium-alginate capsules (CMC) that contain bitumen emulsion by using rapid hardening cements instead of Portland cement. Therefore, the effect of compaction energy, curing time, rapid hardening cements and Portland cement additions on the mechanical properties of cold mix pavement material made with Ca-alginate that contains bitumen emulsion have been evaluated.

# 4.2 Materials and Methods

### 4.2.1 Materials

Materials for capsules consisted of a cationic bitumen emulsion, sodium alginate (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>7</sub>O<sub>6</sub>Na) and calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>), as mentioned previously in Section 3.2.1. The aggregate used was a well-graded crushed limestone, with size between 14mm and a few microns as shown in Figure 4.1(b). Note that the gradation was slightly different from that used in Chapter 3, for more details, see Appendix B. The rapid hardening cements and Portland cement used were calcium sulfoaluminate cement (CSA), provided by Italcementi Ltd, Italy; Ciment Fondu type calcium aluminate cement (CAC), provided by Firetile Ltd, UK; and Portland cement type CEM I 32.5 N, provided by Hanson Cement Ltd, UK.



Figure 4.1 Aggregate size distribution used in (a) Chapter 3, and (b) Chapter 4.

### 4.2.2 Encapsulation Procedure

Ca-alginate capsules containing bitumen emulsion and Ca-alginate particles (with 67% and 73% water content respectively) were fabricated by the same procedure defined in Section 3.2.2 and shown in Figure 3.3(a) and (b).

# 4.2.3 Test Specimens Preparation

Marshall test specimens, with and without rapid hardening cement addition, were prepared (with 100 mm diameter and 50 mm height); see, as an example, Figure 3.4. The manufacturing process for the 16 different types of mixture evaluated in this study is shown in Table 4.1. Mixes containing 3060 g of aggregates were manufactured in batches with raw materials such as Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion and Ca-alginate particles with, and without, rapid hardening cement addition. The amount of raw materials was added by total weight of aggregates, see Table 4.1. Note that the amount of water in each mixture used for the Marshall test specimens with, and without, rapid hardening cement was 2.5%.

Mixture type	Manufacturing process description	Abbreviation	Purpose
Cold Mix pavement material made with calcium- alginate Capsules (see Figure 3(a)) that contain bitumen emulsion (CMC)	The manufacturing process for the Marshall test specimens made with 4% Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion, with and without cement, was the same as described in Table 3.1. Additionally, the Marshall test specimens of CMC with rapid hardening cements were also manufactured in this order: first the coarse aggregates, then 4% w/w of calcium-alginate capsules (%Cap: 4) and 1%, 2% or 3% of rapid hardening cement (%Rapid Cem: RA1; RS1, RA2; RS2 and RA3 and RS3, respectively) were mixed for 2 min at 20±1°C, followed by 60s of mixing by hand. Finally, the mixture was poured into Marshall moulds and compacted by applying 20, 40, 50, 70, 80 or 100 blows (N <sub>Blows</sub> : 20, 40, 50, 70, 80, 100, respectively) on each flat face of the specimens.	The Abbreviation for the Marshall test specimens made with 4% Ca- alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion, with and without cement, was the same as described in Table 3.1. CMC %Cap %Rapid cem - NBIOWS e.g. CMC 4RAC1-50 or CMC 4RAC1-50 or CMC 4RSC1 means that 4% w/w of capsules were used, 1% w/w of rapid aluminate cement or rapid sulfoaluminate cement was added and, 50 blows were applied to compact the mixture.	The same as described in Table 3.1.
Cold Mix pavement material made with calcium- alginate Particles (see Figure 3(b)) (CMP)	The manufacturing process for the test specimens made with 4% Ca- alginate particles (CMP) was the same as described in Table 3.1.	The Abbreviation for the Marshall test specimens made with 4% Ca- alginate particles was the same as described in Table 3.1.	The same as described in Table 3.1.

**Table 4.1** Composition and manufacturing process used for the mixtures studied.

# 4.2.4 Marshall Stability Test

The Marshall stability test procedure described in Section 3.2.7, was also carried out, for the average of 3 test specimens with, and without, rapid hardening cements addition in the CMC.

### 4.2.5 Curing Process of the Test Specimens

All the Marshall test specimens with, and without, rapid cement addition (see Table 4.1) were also cured by the same procedure as described in Section 3.2.8.

### 4.2.6 Water Content in the Test Specimens at Different Curing Times

Water content in the Marshall test specimens was measured following the procedure described in Section 3.2.9.

### 4.2.7 Amount of Water Bound by Cement

The amount of water bound by cement in the CMC was quantified by the following procedure:

- First, 72 test specimens for CMP 4C0-50, CMC 4C1-50, CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4RS1-50 were prepared, see Table 4.1. Then, all the Marshall specimens within the moulds were placed at room temperature, 20±1°C, and relative humidity of 60% for 24h. Next, all the Marshall test specimens were demoulded and placed at room temperature in order to quantify the water evaporation by mass loss at different curing times: 1, 3, 7, 14, 21 and 28 days. The water evaporation was quantified by weighing the specimens using a balance, with a precision of 0.5g. The evaporation of water was quantified at room temperature instead of quantifying it by oven because heating at a high temperature of more than 100±1°C for a long time will induce further hydration of the cement and loss of volatile components (Fang et al., 2016).
- After 28 days, all the Marshall test specimens, were left at room temperature for a further 7 days until mass loss due to evaporation was assumed to have stopped. Then, all the test specimens were crushed into pieces with a maximum of 5 mm in size. These pieces of the Marshall test specimens were dried in an oven at 105°C, in order to obtain the average trapped water in the mixture used for the Marshall

test specimens of CMP 4C0-50, CMC 4C1-50, CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4RS1-50, respectively.

Finally, the amount of water bound by the cement, at different curing times, was quantified using the following procedure: first, based on a study by Fang et al. (2016), the residual evaporable water content in CMC with cement was quantified by Equation (4.1). Second, it was assumed that the residual evaporable water content is zero and the amount of water bound by the cement at different curing times was quantified by Equation (4.2).

$$\boldsymbol{p}_{ev,res}(t) = \left(\boldsymbol{p}_{tot} - \boldsymbol{p}_{bou}(t) - \boldsymbol{p}_{trap} - \boldsymbol{p}_{ev}(t)\right) \tag{4.1}$$

$$\boldsymbol{p}_{bou} = \left(\boldsymbol{p}_{tot} - \boldsymbol{p}_{trap} - \boldsymbol{p}_{ev}\right) \tag{4.2}$$

where  $P_{tot}$  is the total percentage of water in the average of 3 test specimens, with or without cement;  $P_{trap}$  is the percentage of water trapped in the CMP without cement or CMC with cement;  $P_{ev}$  is the percentage of water of evaporation, at time *t*, in the CMP without cement or CMC with cement or CMC with cement. Figure 4.2 shows a schematic diagram for the distribution of water in the total CMC with cement addition.



**Figure 4.2** Schematic diagram for the distribution of water in the total CMC with cement addition.

# 4.3 Results and Discussion

# 4.3.1 Effect of Compaction Energy and Rapid Hardening Cement addition on the Marshall Strength of CMC

Figure 4.3 shows the average Marshall force resisted by CMC test specimens with 3 different cement content additions for both rapid hardening cements and Portland cement, after 24h curing, at 20°C. From Figure 4.3, it can be observed that the average force resisted by the mixes containing rapid hardening cements was improved over that of the CMC mixes containing Portland cement. It was found that the force resisted by the CMC specimens with calcium aluminate cement was greater than that resisted by the CMC specimens with the same mass of Portland cement, while the force resisted by the CMC specimens with the same mass of calcium sulfoaluminate cement was always substantially higher than both the other cement-treated test specimens with the same dosage (Table 4.2) demonstrating the importance of cement chemistry for mix strength.

**Table 4.2** Variation in the Marshall force resested in kN by CMC test specimens, after24h curing at 20°C due to the effect of Marshall compaction configurations and rapid

Mixture type	Number of blows						
Mixture type	20	40	50	70	80	100	
CMC 4C0	1.50	3.62	4.45	4.77	5.94	6.27	
CMC 4C1	2.44	4.03	5.63	7.05	7.97	8.53	
CMC 4C2	3.19	5.08	5.85	7.81	9.16	10.13	
CMC 4C3	4.48	5.63	6.13	8.32	9.71	11.37	
CMC 4RA1	5.41	6.9	7.49	9.45	11.11	12.32	
CMC 4RA2	6.13	8.05	9.23	10.54	11.84	13.51	
CMC 4RA3	6.75	8.98	10.57	12.31	13.94	14.26	
CMC 4RS1	7.79	9.53	11.37	12.97	14.89	15.84	
CMC 4RS2	8.93	10.66	12.56	14.36	17.09	18.41	
CMC 4RS3	9.92	11.62	13.31	15.84	18.03	19.39	

hardening cement addition as well as Portland cement addition.

Finally, Figure 4.3 also shows that:

1) The strength of the CMC test specimens increased approximately linearly with the

number of blows applied irrespective of cement and mass, and

2) The force resisted by the CMC mixes increased by increasing the amount of cement for both rapid hardening cements and Portland cement. It is unclear if the evolution of strength was mainly dependent on the hydration properties of the cement or some kind of beneficial interaction between the cement's hydration product and calcium-alginate. Further research is still required to understand the reason for this.



**Figure 4.3** Variations in the Marshall force resisted by CMC test specimens, after 24h curing at 20°C due to the effect of Marshall compaction configurations and rapid cement addition as well as Portland cement addition.

# 4.3.2 Influence of Rapid hardening Cements on the Marshall strength of CMC at Different Curing Times

Figure 4.4 shows the average Marshall force resisted at different curing times, for CMP 4C0, CMC 4C0, CMC 4C1, CMC 4RA1 and CMC 4RS1 compacted with 50 blows on each flat face. From Figure 4.4, it can be concluded that:

1) The force resisted for all test specimens increased with curing time, and

2) The strength of CMC materials with 1% of cement depended on the type of cement used, i.e., Portland cement, calcium aluminate cement, calcium sulfoaluminate cement added to the mixture.



Figure 4.4 Marshall force resisted measured at different curing times for CMC specimens, with and without 1% of cement.

In Figure 4.4 it can be observed that the force resisted by CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4RS1-50, after 1 day curing, increased 1.33 times and 2.02 times respectively compared to CMC 4C1. Furthermore, for the CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4RS1-50, the force resisted, after 28 days curing, increased 1.29 times and 1.55 times compared to that of the CMC 4C1-50.

Fang et al. (2016) found that, for CMA specimens with Portland, calcium aluminate and calcium sulfoaluminate cement, a part of the water became bound into the hydration products and could not be evaporated, at different curing times. A similar response is seen in Figure 4.5.





Figure 4.4 compares the influence of the addition of 1% Portland cement and rapid hardening cements on the Marshall forces at different curing times. The strength of CMC 4RS1-50 was always substantially higher than that of CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4C1-50 throughout the curing period. This greater strength may be due to the fact that the amount of water bound with calcium sulfoaluminate cement at early age was higher than that bound by the calcium aluminate cement or Portland cement.

# 4.3.3 Water Binding with Rapid hardening Cements

The amount of water bound with rapid hardening cements in the CMC materials was quantified according to the procedure described in Section 4.2.5. The initial amount of water in each mixture used for the Marshall test specimens with and without cement was 2.5%. The water that had already evaporated at time *t* is shown in Table 4.3, and the trapped water in each mixture used for the Marshall test specimens with CMP 4C0-50, CMC 4C0-50, CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4RS1-50 was 0.031%. From Table 4.3, it can be observed that the mass loss due to water evaporation in the CMP 4C0-50 was lower than

that of specimens with cement, the reason for which is unclear in this study but probably due to the interaction between cement hydration product and calcium-alginate helps to increase the mass loss in the test specimens with cement, although further research is still required to understand the reason for this. Neither is it expected for all the test specimens to have the same amount of trapped water. However, this must mean that the surface pore accessibility is the same for all, as evaporation will stop when the suction retains water in opposition to its tendency to evaporate.

**Table 4.3** Amount of evaporation water in % w/w of the cold mix specimens measured at different curing time.

Mixture type	Time (days)						
Mixture type	1	3	7	14	21	28	
CMP 4C0-50	1.62	2.09	2.22	2.3	2.37	2.4	
CMC 4C1-50	1.73	2.2	2.31	2.35	2.39	2.42	
CMC 4RA1-50	1.73	2.24	2.32	2.38	2.4	2.41	
CMC 4RS1-50	1.75	2.26	2.34	2.4	2.41	2.42	

Figure 4.6 shows the amount of water bound vs curing time, with 1% of rapid hardening cements and Portland cement in the CMC materials, quantified according to Equations 4.1 and 4.2. This result in Figure 4.6 shows that the bound water content increases with curing time for all mixes and that the amount of water bound by the rapid hardening cements increased more than with the Portland cement. These results help to explain why the Marshall strength in the test specimens (see Figure 4.4) increased with rapid hardening cements more than with the Portland cement, at different curing time. Furthermore, in Figure 4.6, it can be seen that the amount of water bound due to hydration by the CMC 4RS1-50 increased more than that of other test specimens throughout the curing period, which helped to explain why the Marshall strength in the CMC 4RS1 (see Figure 4.4) increased more than did the other test specimens throughout the curing period.



**Figure 4.6** Amount of water bound measured at different curing time for CMC 4C1-50, CMC 4RA1-50 and CMC 4RS1-50.

### 4.3.4 Hardening Process

Figure 4.7(a) and (b) shows a schematic representation of the hardening process for CMP without cement, and CMC with cement, which is divided into 4 stages. Cold mix pavement material made with calcium-alginate (CMP) was evaluated with respect to Chowdary et al. (2009) who believed that this calcium-alginate polymer can form a viscous microenvironment upon hydration.

In Stage 1, shown in Figure 4.7(a) and (b), it can be seen that the test specimens made with CMP without cement and CMC with cement are wetted by the calcium alginate particles and calcium alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion respectively. Some of the capsules are so strong that they do not break during compaction, see Figure 4.7(b). This happens because the capsules may need more compaction energy. If they break, the released emulsion might help the bonding of the aggregates and therefore increase the mechanical strength of the mixtures.

In Stage 2, shown in Figure 4.7(a) and (b) the cold mix specimens start hydrating and drying once they are exposed to room temperature,  $20\pm1^{\circ}$ C and relative humidity of 60%.

The evaporation rate depends on the ambient temperature, relative humidity, the air voids content of the mixtures and the competition between the drying and the binding of water into cement-hydration products (Scherer, 1990; Lura et al., 2007; Lehmann, 2009). Based on the results of this study, there is an extremely clear relationship between the drying and the binding of water into hydration products of cement and calcium-alginate in CMC materials, at all curing times, see Table 4.3 and Figure 4.6.

In Stage 3, shown in Figure 4.7(a) and (b), during the drying process, the evaporation rate increases in the specimens with cement more than in the test specimens without cement (see Table 4.3), and the cement acts as binder, and the mechanical strength increases with time (see Figure 4.4). Based on the test results, adding 1% of Portland cement in CMC materials helped to increase the strength at different curing times, while adding 1% of rapid hardening cement in the CMC materials further increases this benefit for the same treatment level. This is because the rapid hardening cement in the CMC materials binds a higher amount of water than Portland cement at all curing times, see Figure 4.6.

Finally, in Stage 4, shown in Figure 4.7(a) and (b), the amount of free water for CMP without cement and CMC with cement respectively reduces until it has practically all evaporated. The low amount of bitumen emulsion in capsules reverts to bitumen, while the hydrated products of Ca-alginate and cement, act as a binder and both bind the aggregates. The reaction between cement and Ca-alginate may possibly produce other hydration products. Further research is required to study the interaction of the cement's hydration products with the Ca-alginate capsules' materials.

81



**Figure 4.7** Schematic representation of the hydration process for (a) CMP without cement (b) CMC with cement.

# 4.4 Summary

This chapter has been prepared to accelerate the reaction of Cold Mix pavement material made with calcium-alginate capsules (CMC) that contain bitumen emulsion by using rapid hardening cement instead of Portland cement. The encapsulation method was the same as defined in Section 3.2.2. The components of the Marshall test specimens (capsules or particles, aggregates and cement) were mixed and then compacted at ambient

temperature. An experimental programme was carried out to evaluate the effect of compaction energy, curing time, rapid hardening cement and Portland cement additions on the mechanical properties of cold mix pavement material made with capsules or particles. It was found that CMC test specimens with rapid hardening cements improved their Marshall stability approximately linearly with increase of the compaction energy compared to the stability values achieved by the addition of Portland cement. Furthermore, the Marshall stability of test specimens made with rapid hardening cements, was always higher than that of test specimens made using Portland cement in the CMC materials at each curing time. It was found that the greater strength in the CMC materials with rapid hardening cements correlated with the amount of water bound and the rate of evaporation at different curing times. In short, the rapid hardening cements have shown the potential to be an alternative for Portland cement in the cold mix pavement materials made with calcium-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion.

# Chapter 5: Moisture Resistance of Cold Mix made with cement-treated Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion

# 5.1 Introduction

Many studies have applied different curing protocols (Jenkins, 2000; Bocci et al., 2002; Thanaya, 2003; Serfass et al., 2004; Oke, 2011) and moisture damage protocols (James et al., 1996; Brown and Needham, 2000; Oruc et al., 2007; Al-Busaltan et al., 2012; Al-Hdabi et al., 2013; Al-Hdabi et al., 2014) in order to measure the mechanical performance of conventional cold mix asphalt (CMA) at different curing times, see Section 2.5.1 and 2.5.2. Existing literature (Terrell and Wang, 1971; Schmidt et al., 1973; Head, 1974; Li et al., 1998; Thanaya, 2003; Oruc et al., 2007; Garcia et al., 2013; Fang et al., 2013), see Section 2.6.2 and 2.6.3 describes the effect of curing protocols on the mechanical properties for CMA with and without cement. Furthermore, Section 2.6.5 describes the effect of moisture damage protocols on the mechanical properties for CMA with and without cement.

This chapter aims to evaluate the mechanical performance, at dry and wet condition, for CMC materials, with and without cement.

# 5.2 Materials and Methods

# 5.2.1 Materials

The aggregates, bitumen emulsion and the raw materials for Ca-alginate capsules were the same as described in Section 3.2.1. Additionally, calcium sulfoaluminate cement as described in Section 4.2.1, was used to improve the moisture damage in CMC materials.

84

### 5.2.2 Encapsulation Procedure

The proportions of materials and encapsulation procedure for Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion were the same as defined in Section 3.2.2.

### **5.2.3 Test Specimen Preparation**

Marshall test specimens for CMA, CMC with and without cement, were prepared (with 100 mm diameter and 50 mm height), see as an example Figure 3.4. All Marshall test specimens have been compacted with 50 blows on each flat face. The amount of aggregates and the manufacturing process for the 4 different types of mixtures evaluated in this study are described in Section 3.2.3 and 4.2.4.

# 5.2.4 Curing and Moisture Damage Protocol of Test specimen's

The curing and the moisture damage protocol used for the test specimens, with and without cement, was divided into two groups as follows:

- <u>Dry condition</u>: After compaction, the test specimens within the moulds for CMA 7C0-50, CMC 4C0-50 and CMC 4RS1-50, were placed at room temperature of 20±1°C and relative humidity 60% for 24 h. Then, all the test specimens were demoulded and cured for 7 and 28 days at room temperature. This curing period was fixed to ensure uniform treatment for all the test specimens.
- Wet condition: After the same demoulding and curing the test specimens were subjected to a vacuum with 6.7 kPa pressure for 30±5 minutes, and then immersed in a water bath for 3 days at 40°C, as recommended by EN 12697-12. Finally, all test specimens were divided into two groups: the first group was soaked for 2h at 20°C and the second group was tested immediately (i.e. at 40°C). Hence specimen ages were 10 and 31 days old in total.

When cement is in use, it has rapid hardening properties, so almost all strength and stiffness gain is expected to have been completed in the first 7 days such that testing at 10 day age is not expected to give materially different results than at 7 days. The difference in properties due to an age of 31 days rather than 28 days will be even less significant. When cement is not in use, a comparison of 7 and 10 day-old results may be influenced a little by age, and this effect will be evaluated separately.

# 5.2.5 Laboratory Testing Program

The laboratory testing program developed for the asphalt mixture specimens was divided into four different groups (see Table 5.1):

- <u>Group 1:</u> Marshall stability tests (MST) were selected as a measure of the compressive strength of the materials, with the average of 3 test specimens being recorded, with and without cement, at dry and wet conditions.
- <u>Group 2:</u> Indirect tensile stiffness modulus (ITSM) tests, were used for the average of 3 test specimens, with and without cement, at dry and wet condition.
- <u>Group 3:</u> Indirect tensile strength (ITS), was applied for the average of 3 test specimens, with and without cement, at dry and wet conditions.
- <u>Group 4:</u> The Repeated load axial test (RLAT) was selected to evaluate the resistance to permanent deformation for the average of 3 test specimens, with and without cement, at dry and wet conditions.

Test	Standards	Dry condition	Wet condition				
Mechanical properties for Group 1, 2 and 3							
MST @ 20°CEN 12697-34Curing at 20°CCuring at 20°CITSM @ 20°CEN 12697-26for 7 or 28 days.vacuum saturation for 30min + wa bath for 3 days at 40°C + 2h at 20							
	Mechanical properties for Group 4						
RLAT @ 40°C EN 12697-25 Curing at 20°C for 28 days.		Curing at 20°C for 28 days.	Curing at 20°C for 28 days + vacuum saturation for 30min + soaking in water bath for 3 days at 40°C.				

**Table 5.1** Experimental programme test for CMA specimens, with and without cement.

# **5.3 Results and Discussion**

# 5.3.1 Marshall Stability Test (Group 1)

Figure 5.1 shows the Marshall force resisted, at 20°C, in the dry and wet condition, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing, for CMA and CMC test specimens, with and without cement. Results and discussion related to dry condition are given in Section 3.3.3 and 4.3.2. All results show a similar gain in stability value from 7/10 to 28/31 days, this gain being proportionately greatest for the alginate capsule-treated mixes (approximately 40% increase) and proportionately least for the sulfoaluminate cement and capsule mixes (even though, overall, these are strongest).



**Figure 5.1** Marshall force resisted measured, at dry and wet conditions, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing time for the CMA and CMC, with and without cement.

Figure 5.1 shows that the force resisted, under wet conditions, for the CMA 7C0-50 specimens after 7/10 and 28/31 days of curing was 36% and 31% respectively lower than the force resisted by specimens in the dry conditions, while the CMC 4C0-50 test specimens, at wet condition, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing, collapsed after being

exposed to vacuum. This collapse may have been due to insufficient bitumen emulsion or calcium-alginate in the CMC material.

Figure 5.1 shows that the force resisted by CMC 4RS1-50 specimens, at wet condition, after 7/10 and 28/31 curing was 39% and 37% respectively lower than the force resisted by specimens in the dry conditions. This is a similar reduction due to moisture as experienced by the CMA specimens, but the much higher initial (dry) strength achieved by use of capsules improved with 1% of sulfoaluminate cement more than compensates for the deterioration of performance due to wet curing.

# 5.3.2 Indirect Tensile Stiffness Modulus Test (Group 2) and Indirect Tensile Strength Test (Group 3)

Figure 5.2 (a) and (b) shows the stiffness modulus and indirect tensile strength measured, at 20°C, in the dry and wet condition, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing, for CMA and CMC test specimens, with and without cement.

### • Dry condition

The results in Figure 5.2 show that the CMA and CMC test specimens, with and without rapid hardening cement, gained stiffness modulus and tensile strength, between 7/10 days curing time and 28/31 days of curing time. The results for the emulsion (CMA) mixes are consistent with the literature (Needham, 1996; Brown and Needham, 2000; Miljkovic, 2014; Ojum, 2015; Nassar, 2016). The results also confirm that the stiffness modulus and tensile strength in emulsion mixes can be improved by adding cement (Needham, 1996; Brown and Needham, 2000; Ojum, 2015; Nassar, 2016). The stiffness modulus and tensile strength in emulsion mixes can be improved by adding cement (Needham, 1996; Brown and Needham, 2000; Ojum, 2015; Nassar, 2016). The stiffness modulus and tensile strength (see the CMC results) with CMC 4C0-50 specimens were greater than the CMA 7C0-50 specimens, see Figure 5.2. Additionally, the stiffness modulus and tensile strength of CMC 4RS1-50 specimens were greater than for the other cement treated mixes (see Section 4.3.2). This is because the addition of CSA in the CMC material always binds more water than CAC and OPC, see Figure 4.6.

88



**Figure 5.2** (a) stiffness modulus and (b) indirect tensile strength measured, at dry and wet conditions, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing time for the CMA and CMC, with and without cement.

# • Wet condition

The response after wet curing is similar to the results reported by Oruc et al. (2007), which shows low stiffness of bitumen emulsion at low curing time. However, the stiffness of these emulsion mixes was improved by the addition of cement (Oruc et al., 2007). Furthermore, the results in Figure 5.2(b) show that the tensile strength for the emulsion mixes are consistent with the literature (Gonzalez, 2009; Nassar et al., 2016). Previous studies also show that the tensile strength for the emulsion mixes can be improved by adding cement (Gonzalez, 2009; Nassar et al., 2016). In the case of the calcium-alginate capsule mixes that contain bitumen emulsion, the stiffness modulus and tensile strength for the CMC 4C0-50 test specimens, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing, collapsed after being exposed to vacuum as mentioned in Section 5.3.1, but it can be improved by adding 1% of sulfoaluminate cement, see Figure 5.2.

## 5.3.3 Repeated Load Axial Test (Group 4)

Figure 5.3 shows the resistance to permanent deformation measured, at 40°C, in the dry and wet condition, after 28/31 days curing, for CMA and CMC test specimens, with and without cement. From Figure 5.3, it can be observed that the resistance to permanent deformation for the CMA 7C0-50, at dry condition, is consistent with the literature (Nassar et al., 2016). Additionally, previous studies show that the resistance to permanent deformation for the emulsion mixes can be improved by adding cement (Nassar et al., 2016).



**Figure 5.3** Permanent deformation resisted, at dry and wet conditions, after 28 days curing time for the CMA and CMC, with and without cement, compared to the HMA specimens, after 24 hours.

Figure 5.3 shows that the resistance to permanent deformation, at dry condition, for the CMC 4C0-50 test specimens was better than for the CMA 7C0-50 test specimens. At wet condition, the CMA 7C0-50 specimens were completely damaged under the test loading of 100kPa. Likewise, the CMC 4C0-50 test specimens, cured at wet condition collapsed after

being exposed to vacuum as mentioned in Section 5.3.1. The remaining CMC 4RS1-50 materials showed little difference between dry and wet curing results. It seems evident, therefore that wet curing has only a small influence on essentially-compression behaviour but, from the results in earlier sections, has a much greater influence on tensile response. By adding 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement to capsule mixes, the resistance to permanent deformation for the CMC 4RS1-50 test specimens was improved, at both dry and wet conditions, see Figure 5.3.

# 5.4 Summary

This chapter presents a comparison of dry curing and dry curing followed by wet conditioning of the test specimens (soaking them in water) on the mechanical properties of cold mix pavement material made with calcium-alginate capsules (CMC) that contain bitumen emulsion. It was found that CMC specimens were more degraded than the other test specimens when soaked in water after 7/10 and 28/31 days of curing time. When, 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement was added to the Ca-alginate capsules the moisture damage of cold mix asphalt reduced after 7/10 and 28/31 days of curing time.

# **Chapter 6: Overall Discussions**

### 6.1 Review

This chapter will highlight the main findings from this research. It is evident that the force resisted for the cold mix pavement material made with calcium-alginate capsules (CMC) that contain bitumen emulsion increased linearly with the number of blows applied (refer to Chapter 3 and 4). The capsule mixes also confirm that the force resisted can be increased proportionally with the amount of cement addition (refer to Chapter 3 and 4). This chapter will also explore whether the capsule mixes can deliver the same strength as HMA, just by adding 2% of Cement (refer to Chapter 3).

It is further evident from the findings that the force resisted by the CMC, with and without cement addition, increased with curing time (refer to Chapter 3 and 4). The increase of the strength with time is mainly due to the Ca-alginate contained in the bitumen emulsion capsules, which acts as a binder for the aggregates and can produce similar strength without bitumen emulsion (refer to Chapter 3 and 4). Thus, it appears that the alginate is able to polymerize (or increase its degree of polymerization), in the way described in Section 2.11, after mixing with aggregate. It is not known whether there is a minimum proportion of alginate that is required for this polymerization to take place in an aggregate mix, but, if so, it is evident that this is less than 4% by mass.

# 6.2 Comparison with HMA

Although the amount of bitumen used in the production of the capsules for this study is less than the bitumen for a HMA, CMC with 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement, at dry condition, had a strength higher than that HMA, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing, see Figure 6.1. This sulfoaluminate cement is more effective than other types of cement (refer to Chapter 4).

The average strength was measured for HMA, in a wet condition, and is shown in Figure

92

6.1. For the same wet condition, after 24 hours curing at 20°C, the force resisted for the HMA specimens was 13% lower after wet condition curing than the force resisted by specimens cured in the dry conditions. Comparing the Marshall force resisted by the HMA and CMC 4RS1-50, both in wet condition, as shown in Figure 6.1, it was found that CMC 4RS1-50 test specimens, after 7/10 days curing were not that much different in strength, and can be higher than HMA after 28/31 days curing. Further research is required to measure the optimum amount of Ca-alginate capsules and cement for the CMC mix performance, at early life times.



**Figure 6.1** Marshall force resisted measured, at dry and wet conditions, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing time for the CMC 4RS1-50, compared to the HMA specimens, after 24 hours.

Moreover, the greater stiffness and indirect tensile strength, at dry condition, of the calcium sulfoaluminate cement-treated mixes than those of the comparable HMA is evident, as can be seen in Figure 6.2. Furthermore, for the same wet conditions, the indirect tensile strength and stiffness in the CMC 4RS1-50 test specimens, after 28/31 days curing, were higher than those of the HMA.



**Figure 6.2** (a) stiffness modulus and (b) indirect tensile strength measured, at dry and wet conditions, after 7/10 and 28/31 days curing time for the CMC 4RS1-50, compared to the HMA specimens, after 24 hours.

By comparing the stiffness modulus and indirect tensile strength of the CMC 4RS1-50 and HMA in Table 6.1, it was found that CMC 4RS1-50 test specimens, after 7/10 days curing, had almost the same properties as the HMA. Therefore, from Figure 6.1, a Marshall strength of around 11.2kN at 20°C for the wet-cured specimens, based on the comparable ITSM and ITS results as for HMA, can be regarded giving a material equivalent to HMA. This simple comparison would, of course need further research to study its validity at high and low temperatures such as 60°C and -20°C.

**Table 6.1** Average (a) stiffness modulus and (b) indirect tensile strength measured, atwet conditions, after 7/10 days curing time for the CMA and CMC, with and without

	Mixture type					
Test	CMA 7C0-50	CMC 4C0-50	CMC 4RS1-50	НМА		
		after 7/10 day	s curing			
ITS (MPa)	0.05	-	0.15	0.15		
ITSM (MPa)	-	-	995	1025		

Finally, by adding 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement to capsule mixes, the permanent deformation for the CMC 4RS1-50 test specimens was slightly reduced relative to the HMA, at both dry and wet conditions, see Figure 6.3. This indicates that the resistance to permanent deformation for the bitumen emulsion capsule mixes plus 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement can be greater than that of the reference material, after 28/31 days of curing time even when wet cured.



**Figure 6.3** Permanent deformation, at dry and wet conditions, after 28/31 days curing time for the CMC 4RS1-50, compared to the HMA specimens, after 24 hours.

## 6.3 Calcium Alginate as a Potential Binder

As outlined in this research study, alginate has a number of advantages. The alginate is a renewable, natural polysaccharide component and has unique properties, such as non-toxicity and biocompatibility as described in Section 2.10 and 2.12. Alginate can also form particles by using ionic cross-linkers such as calcium-chloride (see example Figure 3.3(b)). Thus, it appears that the Ca-alginate is a potential binder after mixing and compacting with aggregates at ambient temperature 20°C. It is also evident that the Ca-alginate mixes have good mechanical strength, see Section 3.3.3 and 4.3.2. Moreover, by comparing the Marshall strength of the Ca-alginate mixes, with and without bitumen emulsion, it was
#### found that:

- The Ca-alginate mixes had similar mechanical strength to Ca-alginate mixes that contain bitumen emulsion, at all curing times (see Section 3.3.3).
- The Ca-alginate mixes had higher mechanical strength than the bitumen emulsion mixes, at all curing times (see Section 3.3.3).
- The moisture damage for Ca-alginate mixes can be improved by adding 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement (refer to Chapter 5).
- The moisture damage for Ca-alginate mixes with 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement can be less than that of the HMA (see Section 6.1 and 6.2).

Therefore, when compared to a cold-mix emulsion, it has many practical advantages. However, it was found that the total price to make a Ca-alginate mix with 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement, is about 50% greater than the price of bitumen emulsion mixes with 1% of Portland cement, see Table 6.2. But the price would be the same as bitumen emulsion mixes if the total percentage of Ca-alginate is about 2% and this should be a matter for future investigation to see if workable mixes can be made at a reduced alginate dosage. Even at the dosage rates used in this study the increased cost might be acceptable to uses interested in demonstrating a reduction in their global carbon footprint.

#### Table 6.2 Economic comparison (www.alibaba.com and

### www.sandandgraveldirect.co.uk)

Materials	Bulk prices per ton in US\$	
7% bitumen emulsion	300	-
4% Ca-alginate	-	1000
1% Portland cement	50	-
1% calcium sulfoaluminate cement	-	200
Aggregates	20	20
Total (100%)	39.9	61

## **Chapter 7: Conclusions and Recommendations**

### 7.1 Conclusions

In this thesis, investigation into the performance of a new cold mix asphalt type made with bitumen emulsion capsules was performed. Although not the aim at commencement of the study, it is evident that Ca-alginate has binding properties that can replicate and maybe exceed those of bituminous binders.

# 7.1.1 Conclusions Related to Cold Mix Pavement Material made with Calciumalginate and Aggregates

Bitumen emulsion, Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion, and Ca-alginate particles were studied with and without adding 1%, 2% and 3% w/w of Portland cement. The mechanical strength of Cold Mix pavement materials made with these binders, was evaluated using Marshall test specimens. The main conclusions were as follows:

- It is practical to prepare Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion and Ca-alginate particles without bitumen, sized between 0.4 mm and 0.74 mm, which can be added inside cold mixes to bind the aggregates during the pavement material's manufacturing process.
- Cold mix specimens made with 4% of Ca-alginate capsules (with and without cement additions) increased their Marshall stability linearly with the increase in compactive effort.
- CT-Scan images of cement treated cold mix specimens containing 4% of Caalginate capsules revealed that the bitumen in the capsules did not mix properly in the material. The bitumen added in the capsules played an important role to gain strength only in the first 14 curing days. Ca-alginate was the main binder type that held the aggregates together.

- The Marshall stability of cold mixes increased with the curing time, and this happened due to the evaporation of water from the pavement material.
- Alginate formed an intimate composite with the hydration products of cement, which proved to be very dense and to work well as a binder.
- Cold Mixed pavement materials made with 4% Ca-alginate particles and 2% cement, cured for 7 days can be an alternative to conventional cold mixes made with bitumen emulsion, since they produced a material with equivalent stiffness and strength to Hot Mix Asphalt.

# 7.1.2 Conclusions Related to Cold Mix made with Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion and Rapid hardening Cement

Cold mix specimens made with 4% of Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion and rapid hardening cement (both calcium aluminate and calcium sulfoaluminate) additions were evaluated using Marshall test specimens. It is further concluded that

- Increased their Marshall stability linearly with the increase in compactive effort.
- Increased their Marshall stability with the increase of curing time. This happened due to the evaporation of water from the pavement material.

When 1% calcium sulfoaluminate cement was added, this:

Was more effective with cold mix specimens made with 4% of Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion than with addition of 1% calcium aluminate cement or 1% Portland cement in regard at a given curing time. This is due to 1% calcium sulfoaluminate cement in the cold mix specimens made with 4% of Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion binding more water than 1% calcium aluminate cement and 1% Portland cement.

• Can be a more effective additive to cold mixes than cold mixes made with calcium aluminate cement or Portland cement, since it produced a material with higher Marshall stability than other cold mixes, after 24h curing.

# 7.1.3 Conclusions Related to Moisture Resistance of Cold Mix made with cementtreated Calcium-alginate Capsules that Contain Bitumen Emulsion

Cold Mix pavement materials made with: a) 4% Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion, b) 4% Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion with rapid-hardening cement and c) 7% bitumen emulsion were evaluated both dry and wet conditions. It is concluded that:

- The mechanical properties, at dry condition, increased after 7 and 28 days of curing time.
- Materials made with 4% Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion, at 7 and 28 days of curing time, collapsed after being subjected to a vacuum for approximately 30 minutes. The reason for this collapse is not clear but it may be due to not having enough bitumen or calcium-alginate in the mixtures.
- In a wet condition, the mechanical properties after 7/10 and 28/31 days of curing time of cold mix pavement materials made with Ca-alginate capsules that contain bitumen emulsion can be improved by adding 1% of sulfoaluminate cement.

#### 7.1.4 Conclusions Related to overall discussion

The mechanical properties of CMC specimens with 1% of sulfoaluminate cement was compared with those of conventional hot mix asphalt. It is concluded that:

 The mechanical properties of CMC with 1% sulfoaluminate cement (in the presence of water) after 7 days of curing, can be as good as hot mix asphalt. CMC with 1% of calcium sulfoaluminate cement presented higher mechanical performance than hot mix asphalt after 7 and 28 days of curing time. The mechanical properties after 28 days of curing time, at wet condition, of CMC with 1% of sulfoaluminate cement, can have higher mechanical properties than the comparable hot mix asphalt.

### 7.2 Recommendations

This research revealed that CMC material without cement additives cannot achieve the same or higher mechanical performance than that of HMA. Furthermore, based on the analysis of the results of this research, the main recommendations are given as follows.

- Further research is still required to understand the hydration properties of the cement and the interaction of the cement's hydration products in the presence of Ca-alginate.
- The present study in Chapter 3 showed that the mechanical strength of cold mixes at different curing times, did not increase when increasing the amount of binder type, probably as a result of the increase in the water content of the test specimens, although further research is required to confirm this hypothesis.
- Research may also be conducted to measure the optimum amount of Ca-alginate capsules required for adequate mix performance.
- It was observed that the mass loss due to water evaporation in the CMP material was lower than that of the CMC with cement. So, it is recommended that further research be carried out to evaluate the interaction of the cement's hydration products with the Ca-alginate capsule materials at different curing times. For instance the evaluation could be done after mixing the CMC materials with cement by using ESEM.
- It is highly recommended that further research should be done on the use of different contents of calcium-alginate and bitumen emulsion in the production of bitumen emulsion capsules. The aim would be to improve the mechanical performance, in a wet condition curing, of the CMC material.

- Additional study is needed of the combined impact of different levels of humidity and curing temperatures together on the mechanical properties of CMC material, with and without cement. Also, it would be beneficial to include the effect of different compaction methods and specimen sizes on the curing mechanism, referring to varying water contents, densities and air voids.
- A more substantial economic study must be performed to determine the actual costs of Ca-alginate material in CMC or in CMP, with and without cement additives, and these should be compared to those of conventional CMA.
- It was observed that some capsules are not broken after compacting the Marshall specimens. So, it is recommended that further research be carried to evaluate the number of capsules that have broken after compaction at different compactive efforts.
- Furthermore, it is recommended to use other laboratory compaction techniques such as gyratory or vibratory compaction to evaluate the mechanical properties of CMC material, with and without cement, at different curing times.

### References

- Aderibigbe, B. and Buyana, B., 2018. Alginate in wound dressings. Pharmaceutics, 10(2), p.42.
- Abo-El-Enein, S., Gedamy, Y. and Ecresh, A., 2017. Nitrate Removal from Groundwater Using Sodium Alginate Doped with Nano-Hydroxyapatite. *Advances in Materials*, 6(6), p.102.
- Al-Mansoori, T., Micaelo, R., Artamendi, I., Norambuena-Contreras, J. and Garcia, A., 2017. Microcapsules for self-healing of asphalt mixture without compromising mechanical performance. Construct. Build. Mater., 155, 10911100.
- Al-Mansoori, T., Micaelo, R. and Garcia, A., 2016. Characterization of polymer capsules used for self-healing asphalt pavements. In Functional Pavement Design (pp. 1167-1174). CRC Press.
- Anandharamakrishnan, C., 2015. Spray Drying Techniques for Food Ingredient Encapsulation. John Wiley and Sons.
- A Chaudhari, S., R Kar, J. and S Singhal, R., 2015. Immobilization of proteins in alginate: functional properties and applications. Current Organic Chemistry, 19(17), pp.1732-1754.
- Al-Hdabi, A., Nageim, H., Ruddock, F. and Seton, L., 2014. Laboratory studies to investigate the properties of novel cold-rolled asphalt containing cement and waste bottom ash. Road Materials and Pavement Design, 15(1), 78–89.
- Al-Hdabi, A., Al Nageim, H., Ruddock, F. and Seton, L., 2013. A novel Cold Rolled Asphalt mixtures for heavy trafficked surface course. Construction and Building Materials, 49, 598–603.
- Azomaterials., 2013. Controlled Release Innovations and Applications. Available at: <u>https://www.azom.com/article.aspx?ArticleID=9791</u> (Accessed July 26, 2015).
- Al-Busaltan, S., Al Nageim, H., Atherton, W. and Sharples, G., 2012. Mechanical properties of an upgrading cold-mix asphalt using waste materials. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 24(12), 1484–1491.
- Al-Busaltan, S., Al Nageim, H., Atherton, W. and Sharples, G., 2010. Improving the Mechanical Properties of CBMs using Waste Fly Ashes, L. J. M. U, UK.
- Asphalt Emulsion Manufacturers Association (AEMA)., 2009. Basic Asphalt Emulsion Manual, Manual Series No. 19, Third Edition, USA.
- Arshady, R., 1990. Microspheres and microcapsules, a survey of manufacturing techniques Part II: Coacervation. Polymer Engineering and Science, 30(15), 905–914.
- Aveyard, R., Binks, B. and Clint, J., 2003. Emulsions stabilised solely by colloidal particles. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 100, 503–546.
- Angle, C., 2001. Encyclopedic Handbook of Emulsion Technology. Sjo<sup>°</sup> blom, J., Ed.; CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 541–594.
- Al-Sayed, M., Madany, I. and Buali, A., 1995. Use of sewage sludge ash in asphaltic paving mixes in hot regions. Construction and Building Materials, 9(1), pp.19-23.

- Boulangé, L. and Sterczynskia, F., 2012. Study of interfacial interactions between bitumen and various aggregates used in road construction. Journal of Adhesion Science and Technology, 26(1–3), 163–173.
- Bevilacqua, A., Corbo, M. and Sinigaglia, M., 2010. Application of alternative foodpreservation technologies to enhance food safety and stability. Bentham Science Publishers.
- Bhasin, A., 2007. Development of methods to quantify bitumen-aggregate adhesion and loss of adhesion due to water. Doctoral dissertation, Texas A and M University.
- Binks, B. and Horozov, T., 2006. Colloidal particles at liquid interfaces. Cambridge University Press.
- Bergeron, G., 2005. The performance of full-depth reclamation and cold in-place recycling techniques in Quebec. Annual Conference of the Transportation Association of Canada. Calgary, Canada.
- Brockenbrough, R. and Boedecker, K., 2003. Highway engineering handbook: building and rehabilitating the infrastructure. McGraw-Hill Professional.
- Binks, B., 2002. Particles as surfactants—similarities and differences. Current Opinion in Colloid and Interface Science, 7(1), 21–41.
- Bocci, M., Virgili, A. and Colagrande, S., 2002. A study of the mechanical characteristics of cold recycled bituminous concretes. In proceedings of the 4th European Symposium on Performance of Bituminous and Hydraulic Materials in Pavements. Nottingham, UK, 4, 11–12.
- Braccini, I., Pérez, S., 2001. Molecular basis of Ca2+-induced gelation in alginates and pectins: the egg-box model revisited. Biomacromolecules 2(4):1089–1096.
- Brown, S. and Needham, D., 2000. A study of cement modified bitumen emulsion mixtures. Asphalt Paving Technology, 69, 92–121.
- Bozzola, J. and Russell, L., 1992. Electron Microscopy. Jones and Bartlett Publishers, Sudbury.
- Brown, S., 1988. Pavement design and materials. In International Conference on the Structural Design of Asphalt Pavements, 6th, 1987, Ann Arbor, Michigan, USA.
- Chemarc., 2017. 'Bitumen Emulsion'. Available at: <u>https://www.chemarc.com/content/bitumen-</u> <u>emulsion/58be46eb7b12f23de8046954</u> (accessed December 25, 2017).
- Comunian, T., Thomazini, M., Alves, A., de Matos Junior, F., de Carvalho Balieiro, J. and Favaro-Trindade, C., 2013. Microencapsulation of ascorbic acid by complex coacervation: Protection and controlled release. Food Research International, 52(1), 373–379.
- Choudhary, R., Mondal, A., and Kaulgud, H., 2012. Use of cold mixes for rural road construction. International Journal of Computer Applications, 20–24.
- Chehovits, J., and Galehouse, L., 2010. Energy usage and greenhouse gas emissions of pavement preservation processes for asphalt concrete pavements. Compendium of Papers from the First International Conference on Pavement Preservation, 27–42.

- Chowdary, R., Deepthi, S. and Rao, S., 2009. Mucoadhesive microcapsules of Indomethacin: Evaluation for controlled release and ulcerogenic activity. cellulose, 1(1), p.50.
- Chen, G. and Wang, W., 2007. Role of freeze drying in nanotechnology. Drying Technology, 25(1), 29–35.
- Chandramouli, V., Kailasapathy, K., Peiris, P. and Jones, M., 2004. An improved method of microencapsulation and its evaluation to protect Lactobacillus spp. in simulated gastric conditions. Journal of microbiological methods, 56(1), pp.27-35.
- Chappat, M. and Bilal, J., 2003. The Environmental Road of the Future: Life Cycle Analysis. Colas SA, Paris, 9, 1-34.
- Chandlerm, W. and Seraphin, S., 2002. Scanning Electron Microscopy in Characterization of Materials. University of Arizona, Tucson, US, 1(2), 1050–1063
- Czarnecki, J., 2001. Encyclopaedic Handbook of Emulsion Technology, Sjo<sup>®</sup> blom, J., Ed.; CRC. Press, Boca Raton, FL, 497–514.
- Cook, W., Forrest, M., and Goodwin, A., 1999. A simple method for the measurement of polymerization shrinkage in dental composites. Dental Materials, 15(6), 447–449.
- Chapman, D., 1980. Seaweeds and their uses. Chapman and Hall, London and New York
- Csanyi, L., 1957. Foamed asphalt in bituminous paving mixes. Highway Research Board Bulletin, 10, 108–122.
- Da Silva, T., Vidart, J., Da Silva, M., Gimenes, M. and Vieira, M., 2017. Alginate and Sericin: Environmental and Pharmaceutical Applications. In Biological Activities and Application of Marine Polysaccharides. InTech.
- Da Silva, M., Canevesi, R., Welter, R., Vieira, M. and da Silva, E., 2015. Chemical equilibrium of ion exchange in the binary mixture Cu 2+ and Ca 2+ in calcium alginate. Adsorption, 21(6-7), pp.445-458.
- Diefenderfer, B., Apeagyei, A., Gallo, A., Dougald, L. and Weaver, C., 2012. In-place pavement recycling on I-81 in Virginia. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 2306, 21–27.
- Dubey, R., 2009. Microencapsulation technology and applications. Defence Science Journal, 59(1), 82.
- D'Angelo, J., Harm, E., Bartoszek, J., Baumgardner, G., Corrigan, M., Cowsert, J., Harman, T., Jamshidi, M., Jones, H., Newcomb, D. and Prowell, B., 2008. Warm-Mix Asphalt: European Practice, Research Report No. FHWA-PL-08-007, Federal Highway Administration, Washington DC.
- Das, A., 2008. Principles of Bituminous Pavement Design and the recent trends. Department of Civil Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology, Kanpur.
- Draget, K., Moe, S., Skjak-Bræk, G. and Smidsrød, O., 2006. Alginates. Food polysaccharides and their applications, p.289-334.
- Dinsmore, A., Hsu, M., Nikolaides, M., Marquez, M., Bausch, A. and Weitz, D., 2002. Colloidosomes: selectively permeable capsules composed of colloidal particles. Science, 298(5595), 1006–1009.

- Dewettinck, K. and Huyghebaert, A., 1999. Fluidized bed coating in food technology. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 10(4), 163–168.
- EAPA., 2010. The use of warm mix asphalt. Position Paper. European Asphalt Pavement Association, Brussels.
- Ebels, L., Jenkins, K. and Collings, D., 2005. Cold mix (bitumen stabilisation) technology in Southern Africa into the 21st century. In 2005 International Symposium on Pavement Recycling.
- Fang, X., García, A. and Lura, P., 2016. Overview on cold cement bitumen emulsion asphalt. Rilem Technical Letters, 1, 116–121.
- Fang, X., García, A., Winnefeld, F., Partl, M. and Lura, P., 2015. Impact of rapid-hardening cements on mechanical properties of cement bitumen emulsion asphalt. Materials and Structures, 49, 487–498.
- Favaro-Trindade, C., Pinho, S. and Rocha, G., 2008. Revisão: microencapsulação de ingredientes alimentícios. Brazilian Journal of Food Technology, 11(2), 103–112.
- Fortuny, M., Oliveira, C., Melo, R., Nele, M., Coutinho, R. and Santos, A., 2007. Effect of salinity, temperature, water content, and pH on the microwave demulsification of crude oil emulsions. Energ Fuel., 21(3), 1358–1364.
- Garber, N. and Hoel, L., 2014. Traffic and highway engineering. Cengage Learning.
- Gómez-Meijide, B. and Pérez, I., 2014. A proposed methodology for the global study of the mechanical properties of cold asphalt mixtures. Materials & Design, 57, pp.520-527.
- Guo, M., Tan, Y. and Zhou, S., 2014. Multiscale test research on interfacial adhesion property of cold mix asphalt. Construction and Building Materials, 68, pp.769-776.
- García, A., Lura, P., Partl, N. and Jerjen, I., 2013. Influence of cement content and environmental humidity on asphalt emulsion and cement composites performance. Materials and Structures, 46, 1275–1289.
- Grilli, A., Graziani, A. and Bocci, M., 2012. Compactability and thermal sensitivity of cement-bitumen-treated materials. Road Materials and Pavement Design, 13, 599–617.
- Garti, N. and McClements, D., 2012. Encapsulation technologies and delivery systems for food ingredients and nutraceuticals. Elsevier.
- Gharsallaoui, A., Roudaut, G., Beney, L., Chambin, O., Voilley, A. and Saurel, R., 2012. Properties of spray-dried food flavours microencapsulated with two-layered membranes: roles of interfacial interactions and water. Food Chemistry, 132(4), 1713–1720.
- García, A., Schlangen, E. and Van de Ven, M., 2011. Properties of capsules containing rejuvenators for their use in asphalt concrete. Fuel, 90(2), 583–591.
- Gallo, M. and Corbo, M., 2010. Microencapsulation as a New Approach to Protect Active Compounds in Food. In Application of Alternative Food-Preservation Technologies to Enhance Food Safety and Stability, 188.

- Gonzalez, A., 2009. An experimental study of the deformational and performance characteristics of foamed bitumen stabilised pavements.
- Gharsallaoui, A., Roudaut, G., Chambin, O., Voilley, A. and Saurel, R., 2007. Applications of spray-drying in microencapsulation of food ingredients: an overview. Food Research International, 40(9), 1107–1121.
- Ghosh, S., 2006. Functional Coatings: By Polymer Microencapsulation. John Wiley and Sons.
- Gouin, S., 2004. Microencapsulation: industrial appraisal of existing technologies and trends. Trends in Food Science and Technology, 15(7), 330–347.
- Gibb, J., 1996. Evaluation of resistance to permanent deformation in the design of bituminous paving mixtures. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.
- Grant, G., Morris, R., Rees, D., Smith, C., Thom, D., 1973. Biological interactions between polysaccharides and divalent cations: the egg-box model. FEBS Lett 32(1):195–198.
- Huang, M. and Yang, M., 2010. Swelling and biocompatibility of sodium alginate/poly (γglutamic acid) hydrogels. Polymers for Advanced Technologies, 21(8), pp.561-567.
- Heidebach, T., Först, P. and Kulozik, U., 2009. Transglutaminase-induced caseinate gelation for the microencapsulation of probiotic cells. International Dairy Journal, 19(2), 77–84.
- Hsieh, W., Chang, C. and Gao, Y., 2006. Controlled release properties of chitosan encapsulated volatile citronella oil microcapsules by thermal treatments. Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces, 53(2), 209–214.
- Heath, J., 2005. Dictionary of microscopy. Dictionary of Microscopy, by Julian Heath. ISBN 0-470-01199-8. Wiley-VCH, 358.
- Ibrahim, H. and Thom, N., 1997. The effect of emulsion aggregate mixture stiffness on both miture and pavement design. Proceedings of the Second European Symposium on Performance and Durability of Bituminous Materials. University of Leeds.
- Hunter, R., 1994. Bituminous mixtures in road construction. Thomas Telford.
- Head, R., 1974. An Informal Report of Cold Mix Research Using Emulsified Asphalt as a Binder. Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists Proc.
- Inoue, K., Harada, H., Ghimire, K., Biswas, B., Kawakita, H. and Ohto, K., 2018. Environmentally Benign Adsorption Materials for Removing Arsenic from Aquatic Environment. Advances in Materials Physics and Chemistry, 8(01), p.51.
- Jain, M., Lohare, G., Bari, M., Chavan, R., Barhate, S. and Shah, C., 2012. Spray drying in pharmaceutical industry: a review. Research Journal of Pharmaceutical Dosage Forms and Technology, 4(2), 74–79.
- Jyothi, S., Seethadevi, A., Prabha, K., Muthuprasanna, P. and Pavitra, P., 2012. Microencapsulation: a review. Int J of Pharma and Bio Sciences, 3, 509–531.
- Jyothi, N., Prasanna, P., Sakarkar, S., Prabha, K., Ramaiah, P. and Srawan, G., 2010. Microencapsulation techniques, factors influencing encapsulation efficiency. Journal of microencapsulation, 27(3), 187–197.

- Jenkins, K. and Moloto, P., 2008. Updating bitumen stabilized materials guidelines: mix design report, Phase II Curing protocol: improvement. Technical memorandum task 7.
- James, A., 2006. Overview of Asphalt Emulsions. Asphalt Emulsion Technology, Transportation Research Circular Number E-C102, Transportation Research Board, Washington, DC.
- Jada, A., Florentin, C. and Mariotti S., 2004. Study of the electrical properties of cationic bitumen emulsion by microeelectrophoresis. Advances in Colloid and Interface Science, 108, 127–32.
- Jenkins, K., 2000. Mix design considerations for Cold and Half-warm Bituminous Mixes with emphasis on Foamed Bitumen. PhD thesis, University of Stellenbosch, South Africa.
- James, A., Needham, D. and Brown, S., 1996. The benefits of using ordinary portland cement in solvent-free dense-graded bituminous emulsion mixtures. International Symposium on Asphalt Emulsion Technology (AEMA). Washington, D.C., USA, 179– 188.
- Kühbeck, D., Mayr, J., Häring, M., Hofmann, M., Quignard, F. and Díaz, D., 2015. Evaluation of the nitroaldol reaction in the presence of metal ion-crosslinked alginates. New Journal of Chemistry, 39(3), pp.2306-2315.
- Katepalli, H., 2014. Formation and stability of emulsions: Effect of surfactant-particle interactions and particle shape.
- Kelkar, S., Stella, S., Boushey, C. and Okos, M., 2011. Developing novel 3D measurement techniques and prediction method for food density determination. Procedia Food Science, 1, 483–491.
- Kho, K. and Hadinoto, K., 2011. Optimizing aerosolization efficiency of dry-powder aggregates of thermally-sensitive polymeric nanoparticles produced by spray-freeze-drying. Powder technology, 214(1), pp.169-176.
- Khalid, H. and Monney, O., 2009. Moisture damage potential of cold asphalt. International Journal of Pavement Engineering, 10(5), pp.311-318.
- Kirk, R., Othmer, D. and Seidel, A., 2008. Kirk-Othmer Food and Feed Technology. Wiley-Interscience.
- Kim, Y. and Lee, H., 2006. Development of mix design procedure for cold in-place recycling with foamed asphalt. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 18, 116–124.
- Kendall, M. Baker, B. Evans, P. and Ramanujam, J., 2000. Foamed bitumen stabilisation. Transportation Research Board Conference, Washington, DC.
- Khan, M., Arshad, M., Anjum, F., Sameen, A. and Gill, W., 2011. Meat as a functional food with special reference to probiotic sausages. Food Research International, 44(10), 3125–3133.
- Khalid, H. and Eta, K., 1996. Laboratory and Field Performance of Dense Emulsified Bitumen Macadam used for Highway Reinstatement. Eurasphalt and Eurobitume Congress, Strasbourg, France.

- King, A., 1995. Encapsulation of Food Ingredients: A Review of Available Technology, Focussing on Hydrocolloids. In Encapsulation and Controlled Release of Food Ingredients, ACS Symposium Series 590, ed. S. J. Risch, and G. A. Reineccius. Washington, DC: American Chemical Society, 26–39.
- Clark, D., Green, H. and Kelco Co., 1936. Alginic acid and process of making same. U.S. Patent 2,036,922.
- Lochhead, R., 2017. Chapter 13-The Use of Polymers in Cosmetic Products. Cosmetic Science and Technology.
- Luo, Y. and Zhang, Y., 2013. Investigation of sticky-rice lime mortar of the Horse Stopped Wall in Jiange. *Heritage Science*, 1(1), p.26.
- Lee, K. and Mooney, D., 2012. Alginate: properties and biomedical applications. Progress in polymer science, 37(1), pp.106-126.
- Lotfipour, F., Mirzaeei, S. and Maghsoodi, M., 2012. Evaluation of the effect of CaCl2 and alginate concentrations and hardening time on the characteristics of Lactobacillus acidophilus loaded alginate beads using response surface analysis. Advanced pharmaceutical bulletin, 2(1), p.71.
- Laohasongkram, K., Mahamaktudsanee, T. and Chaiwanichsiri, S., 2011. Microencapsulation of Macadamia oil by spray drying. Procedia Food Science, 1, 1660–1665.
- Lee, S., Park, H., Won, E., Shin, S. and Kim, W., 2011. Alginate combined calcium phosphate cements: mechanical properties and in vitro rat bone marrow stromal cell responses. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine, 22(5), 1257– 1268.
- Lehmann, P. and Or, D., 2009. Evaporation and capillary coupling across vertical textural contrasts in porous media. Physical Review E, 80(4), 046318.
- Lura, P., Pease, B., Mazzotta, G., Rajabipour, F. and Weiss, J., 2007. Influence of shrinkage-reducing admixtures on development of plastic shrinkage cracks. ACI Materials Journal, 104(2), 187.
- Lee, K. and Yuk, S., 2007. Polymeric protein delivery systems. Progress in polymer science, 32(7), pp.669-697.
- Lee, J., Cha, D. and Park, H., 2004. Survival of freeze-dried Lactobacillus bulgaricus KFRI 673 in chitosan-coated calcium alginate microparticles. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 52(24), pp.7300-7305.
- Lamprecht, A., Schäfer, U. and Lehr, C., 2000. Characterization of microcapsules by confocal laser scanning microscopy: structure, capsule wall composition and encapsulation rate. European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics, 49(1), 1–9.
- Lee, K., and Heo, T., 2000. Survival of Bifidobacterium longumImmobilized in calcium alginate beads in simulated gastric juices and bile salt solution. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 66(2), pp.869-873.
- Li, G., Zhao, Y., Pang, S. and Huang, W., 1998. Experimental study of cement-asphalt emulsion composite. Cement and Concrete Research, 28(5), 635–641.

- Liang, R. and Zhou, J., 1997. Prediction of fatigue life of asphalt concrete beams. International Journal of Fatigue, 19(2), 117–124.
- Leech, D., 1994. Cold Bituminous Materials for Use in the Structural Layers of roads. Transportation Research Laboratory, Project Report 75,UK.
- Myrnes, E., 2016. Alginate gels cross-linked with mixtures of calcium and chitosan oligomers: Effect on swelling properties and leakage from the gel (Master's thesis, NTNU).
- Mishra, M., 2015. Handbook of Encapsulation and Controlled Release. CRC Press.
- Miljkovic, M., 2014. Effect of bitumen emulsion on mechanical performance of cold asphalt mixtures. Facta universitatis-series: Architecture and Civil Engineering, 12(2), 195–205.
- Mayo, S., Stevenson, A. and Wilkins, S., 2012. In-line phase-contrast X-ray imaging and tomography for materials science. Materials, 5(5), 937–965.
- Miraftab, M., Iwu, C., Okoro, C. and Smart, G., 2010. Inherently Antimicrobial Alchite Fibres Developed for Wound Care Applications. In Medical and Healthcare Textiles (pp. 76-83).
- Mallepally, R., 2009. Encapsulation and Controlled Release of Pharmaceuticals with Biodegradable Hyperbranched Polyesters. Doctoral dissertation, PhD thesis, University of Erlangen Nuremberg, Germany.
- Mathew, T. and Krishna Rao, K., 2007. Introduction to pavement design, NPTEL May 3.
- Madene, A., Jacquot, M., Scher, J. and Desobry, S., 2006. Flavour encapsulation and controlled release–a review. International Journal of Food Science and Technology, 41(1), 1–21.
- Marques, L., Silveira, A. and Freire, J., 2006. Freeze-drying characteristics of tropical fruits. Drying Technology, 24(4), 457–463.
- Mandal, S., Puniya, A. and Singh, K., 2006. Effect of alginate concentrations on survival of microencapsulated Lactobacillus casei NCDC-298. *International Dairy Journal*, *16*(10), pp.1190-1195.
- Masliyah, J., Xu, Z. and Czarnecki, J., 2001. Handbook on Theory and Practice of Bitumen Recovery from Athabasca Oil Sands. Kingsley Knowledge Publishing, Cochrane, Alberta, Canada.
- Marienfeld, M. and Guram, S., 1999. Overview of field installation procedures for paving fabrics in North America. Geotextiles and Geomembranes, 17(2), 105–120.

McHugh, D., 1987. Production and utilization of products from commercial seaweeds.

- Mohsenin, N., 1970. Physical Properties of Plant and Animal Materials. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Inc, New York.
- Martin, J. and Wallace, H., 1958. Design and Construction of Asphalt Pavements. McGraw-Hill Book Company.

- Norambuena-Contreras, J., Yalcin, E., Garcia, A., Al-Mansoori, T., Yilmaz, M. and Hudson-Griffiths, R., 2018. Effect of mixing and ageing on the mechanical and self-healing properties of asphalt mixtures containing polymeric capsules. Construction and Building Materials, 175, 254–266.
- Nassar, A., Mohammed, M., Thom, N. and Parry, T., 2016. Mechanical, durability and microstructure properties of Cold Asphalt Emulsion Mixtures with different types of filler. Construction and Building Materials, 114, 352–363.
- Nassar, A., Mohammed, M., Thom, N. and Parry, T., 2016. Characterisation of highperformance cold bitumen emulsion mixtures for surface courses. International Journal of Pavement Engineering, 1–10.
- Nassar, A., 2016. Enhancing the performance of cold bitumen emulsion mixture using supplementary cementitious materials. Doctoral dissertation, University of Nottingham.
- Nedovic, V. and Willaert, R., 2013. Fundamentals of cell immobilisation biotechnology. Springer Science and Business Media, 8.
- Nedovic, V., Kalusevic, A., Manojlovic, V., Levic, S. and Bugarski, B., 2011. An overview of encapsulation technologies for food applications. Procedia Food Science, 1, 1806–1815.
- Niazi, Y. and Jalili, M., 2009. Effect of Portland cement and lime additives on properties of cold in-place recycled mixtures with asphalt emulsion. Construction and Building Materials, 23, 1338–1343.
- Needham, D., 1996. Developments in Bitumen Emulsion Mixtures for Roads. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.
- Nimmannit, U. and Suwanpatra, N., 1996. Microencapsulation of drugs by the coacervation technique using ethylcellulose and acrylate-methacrylate copolymer as wall materials. Journal of Microencapsulation, 13(6), 643–649.
- Nikolaides, A., 1983. Design of dense Graded Cold Bituminous Emulsion Mixtures and evaluation of their engineering properties. PhD thesis, University of Leeds.
- Ojum, C., 2015. The design and optimisation of cold asphalt emulsion mixtures. PhD thesis, University of Nottingham.
- Okuro, P., de Matos Junior, F. and Favaro-Trindade, C., 2013. Technological challenges for spray chilling encapsulation of functional food ingredients. Food Technology and Biotechnology, 51(2), pp.171-182.
- Oke, O., 2011. A study on the development of guidelines for the production of bitumen emulsion stabilised RAPs for roads in the tropics. University of Nottingham.
- Oruc, S., Celik, F. and Akpinar, M., 2007. Effect of cement on emulsified asphalt mixtures. Journal of Materials Engineering and Performance, 16(5), 578–583.
- Oruc, S., Celik, F. and Aksoy, A., 2006. Performance of cement modified dense graded cold-mix asphalt and establishing mathematical model.
- Peteiro, C., 2018. Alginate Production from Marine Macroalgae, with Emphasis on Kelp Farming. In *Alginates and Their Biomedical Applications* (pp. 27-66). Springer, Singapore.

Paques, J., 2014. Formation of alginate nanospheres. Wageningen University.

- Punith, V., Xiao, F. and Wingard, D., 2013. Performance characterization of half warm mix asphalt using foaming technology. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 25, 382–392.
- Plazinski, W., 2011. Molecular basis of calcium binding by polyguluronate chains. Revising the egg-box model. J Comput Chem 32(14):2988–2995
- Partl, M., 2010. Sustainable Development through Asphalt Recycling in Switzerland. Int. Work. ISAP Tech. Comm. APE Asph. Pavements Environ.
- Poulikakos, L. and Partl, M., 2010. Investigation of porous asphalt microstructure using optical and electron microscopy. Journal of Microscopy, 240(2), 145–154.
- Peniche, C., Howland, I., Carrillo, O., Zaldıvar, C. and Argüelles-Monal, W., 2004. Formation and stability of shark liver oil loaded chitosan/calcium alginate capsules. Food Hydrocolloids, 18(5), 865–871.
- Pruesse, U., Jahnz, U., Wittlich, P. and Vorlop, K., 2003. Scale-up of the JetCutter technology. Hemijska Industrija, 57(12), 636–640.
- Pouliot, N., Marchand, J. and Pigeon, M., 2003. Hydration mechanisms, microstructure, and mechanical properties of mortars prepared with mixed binder cement slurryasphalt emulsion. Journal of Materials in Civil Engineering, 15(1), 54–59.
- Rathore, S., Desai, P., Liew, C., Chan, L. and Heng, P., 2013. Microencapsulation of microbial cells. Journal of Food Engineering, 116(2), 369–381.
- Rinaudo, M., 2008. Main properties and current applications of some polysaccharides as biomaterials. Polymer International, 57(3), pp.397-430.
- Rezende, R., Bártolo, P., Mendes, A. and Filho, R., 2007. Experimental characterisation of the alginate gelation process for rapid prototyping. In The eighth international conference on chemical & process engineering (Vol. 11, pp. 509-514).
- Ren, Y., Donald, A. and Zhang, Z., 2007. Investigation of radiation damage to microcapsules in environmental SEM. Materials Science and Technology, 23(7), 857–864.
- Redelius, P. and Walter, J., 2006. Bitumen emulsion. Emuls. Stab., 383–413.
- Romanova, U., Yarranton, H., Schramm, L. and Shelfantook, W., 2004. Investigation of oil sands froth treatment. The Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering, 82(4), 710–721.
- Read, J. and Whiteoak, D., 2003. The Shell Bitumen Handbook. Thomas Telford.
- Robinson, H., 1997. Thin asphalt surfasings using cold mix technology. Proceeding of the Second European Symposium on Performance and Durability of Bituminous Materials. University of Leeds.
- Roisin, C., Bienaimé, C. and E. Nava Saucedo, J., 1996. Influence of the microenvironment on immobilised Gibberella fujikuroi. Journal of Elsevier Science, 11, 189-195.
- Saadoon, T., Garcia, A. and Gómez-Meijide, B., 2017. Dynamics of water evaporation in cold asphalt mixtures. Materials & Design, 134, pp.196-206.

- Sewiwat, N., Keener, T. and Ratpukdi, T., 2016. Stability of alginate encapsulation beads for microalgae cultivation. Engineering and Applied Science Research, 43, pp.380-382.
- Silva, P., Fries, L., Menezes, C., Holkem, A., Schwan, C., Wigmann, É., Bastos, J. and Silva, C., 2014. Microencapsulation: concepts, mechanisms, methods and some applications in food technology. Ciência Rural, 44(7), 1304–1311.
- Sullivan, E. and Moss, A., 2014. Paving Cost Comparisons: Warm-Mix Asphalt Versus Concrete. Portland Cement Association, Mark Intel1.
- Skolnik, J., Brooks, M. and Oman, J., 2013. NCHRP Report 744: Fuel Usage Factors in Highway and Bridge Construction. Washington, DC.
- Serna-Cock, L. and Vallejo-Castillo, V., 2013. Probiotic encapsulation. African Journal of Microbiology Research, 7(40), pp.4743-4753.
- Sun, D., An, J., Wu, G. and Yang, J., 2012. Double-layered reactive microcapsules with excellent thermal and non-polar solvent resistance for self-healing coatings. Journal of Materials Chemistry A, 3, 4435–4444.
- Swiertz, D., Johannes, P., Tashman, L. and Bahia, H., 2012. Evaluation of laboratory coating and compaction procedures for cold mix asphalt. Asphalt Paving Technology-Proceedings Association of Asphalt Technologists, 81, p.81.
- Sachan, N., Ghosh, S. and Bhattacharya, A., 2010. Evaluation of glutinous rice starch based matrix microbeads using scanning electron microscopy. Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research, 2(3), pp.433-452.
- Sachan, N., Pushkar, S., Jha, A. and Bhattcharya, A., 2009. Sodium alginate: the wonder polymer for controlled drug delivery. Journal of pharmacy research, 2(8), pp.1191-1199.
- Salomon, D., 2006. Asphalt emulsion technology. Transportation Research Board.
- Suleiman, M., 2006. To convert bitumen powder to bitumen emulsion. PhD thesis, University Malaysia Pahang.
- Shu, B., Yu, W., Zhao, Y. and Liu, X., 2006. Study on microencapsulation of lycopene by spray-drying. Journal of Food Engineering, 76(4), 664–669.
- Sebaaly, P., Bazi, G., Hitti, E., Weitzel, D. and Bemanian, S., 2004. Performance of cold in-place recycling in Nevada transportation research record. Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 1896, 162–169.
- Serfass, J., Poirier, J., Henrat, J. and Carbonneau, X., 2004. Influence of curing on cold mix mechanical performance. Materials and Structures, 37(5), 365–368.
- Stark, D., Kornmann, H., Münch, T., Sonnleitner, B., Marison, I. and Von Stockar, U., 2003. Novel type of in situ extraction: Use of solvent containing microcapsules for the bioconversion of 2-phenylethanol from L-phenylalanine by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 83(4), 376–385.
- Silva, C., Ribeiro, A., Ferreira, D. and Veiga, F., 2003. Administração oral de peptídeos e proteínas: II. aplicação de métodos de microencapsulação. Revista Brasileira de Ciências Farmacêuticas, 1(39), 1–20.

- Strand, B., Mørch, Y., Espevik, T., and Skjåk-Bræk, G., 2003. Visualization of alginatepoly-L-lysine-alginate microcapsules by confocal laser scanning microscopy. Biotechnology and Bioengineering, 82(4), 386–394.
- Simensen, M., Draget, K. and Hjelland, F., FMC Biopolymer AS., 2000. Procedure for producing uronic acid blocks from alginate. U.S. Patent 6,121,441.
- Selmer-Olsen, E., Sørhaug, T., Birkeland, S.E. and Pehrson, R., 1999. Survival of Lactobacillus helveticus entrapped in Ca-alginate in relation to water content, storage and rehydration. Journal of Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology, 23(2), pp.79-85.
- Shell Bitumen., 1995. The Shell Bitumen Emulsion Industrial Handbook. Shell Bitumen, Chertsey, Angleterre.
- Sheu, T., 1993. Improving survival of culture bacteria in frozen by microentrapment. J Dairy Sci 76:1902–1907
- Scherer, G., 1990. Theory of drying. Journal of the American Ceramic Society, 73(1), 3– 14.
- Smidsrød, O. and Skja, G., 1990. Alginate as immobilization matrix for cells. *Trends in biotechnology*, *8*, pp.71-78.
- Sime, W., 1990. Alginates. In Food gels (pp. 53-78). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Santucci, L., 1977. Thickness design procedure for asphalt and emulsified asphalt mixes. 4th Int. Conf. - Ann Arbor, 424–456.
- Sliwka, W., 1975. Microencapsulation. Angewandte Chemie International Edition in English, 14(8), 539–550.
- Squier, C., 1973. The permeability of keratinized and nonkeratinized oral epithelium to horseradish peroxidase. Journal of Ultrastructure Research, 43(1), 160–177.
- Schmidt, R., Santucci, L. and Coyne, L., 1973. Performance characteristics of cementmodified. Aspahlt emulsion mixes. Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists Proc.
- Thanaya, I., Zoorob, S. and Forth, J., 2009. A laboratory study on cold-mix, cold-lay emulsion mixtures. Proceedings of the Institution of Civil Engineers: Transport, 162 (TR1). ISSN 1751–7710, 47–55.
- Thom, N., 2008. Principles of pavement engineering.
- Thanaya, I., 2007. Review and Recommendation of Cold Asphalt Emulsion Mixtures Design. Civil Engineering Dimension. Indonesia, 1(9).
- Thanaya, I. 2003. Improving the performance of cold bituminous emulsion mixtures incorporating waste materials. PhD thesis, The University of Leeds.
- Takano, H., Ishida, N., Koizumi, M. and Kano, H., 2002. Imaging of the fermentation process of bread dough and the grain structure of baked breads by magnetic resonance imaging. Journal of Food Science, 67(1), 244–250.
- Terrell, R. and Wang, C., 1971. Early curing behaviour of cement modified asphalt emulsion mixtures. Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists Proc.

- Varghese, S. and Elisseeff, J., 2006. Hydrogels for musculoskeletal tissue engineering. In Polymers for regenerative medicine (pp. 95-144). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Van Lieshout, M. and Bouten, C., 2002. Characterisation of the degrading properties of alginate under influence of citrate.
- Wang, X., Sun, P., Han, N. and Xing, F., 2017. Experimental study on mechanical properties and porosity of organic microcapsules based self-healing cementitious composite. Materials, 10(1), 20.
- Wang, Z. and Sha, A., 2010. Micro hardness of interface between cement asphalt emulsion mastics and aggregates. Materials and Structures, 43(4), 453–461.
- White, S., Sottos, N., Geubelle, P., Moore, J., Kessler, M., Sriram, S., Brown, E. and Viswanathan, S., 2001. Autonomic healing of polymer composites. Nature, 409(6822), 794–797.
- Weiβ, G., Knoch, A., Laicher, A., Stanislaus, F. and Daniels, R., 1995. Simple coacervation of hydroxypropyl methylcellulose phthalate (HPMCP) II. Microencapsulation of ibuprofen. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 124(1), 97–105.
- Yan, Y., 2012. Hot Mix Asphalt Concrete Density, Bulk Specific Gravity, and Permeability. West Virginia University.
- Yang, F., Zhang, B. and Ma, Q., 2010. Study of sticky rice– lime mortar technology for the restoration of historical masonry construction. Accounts of Chemical Research, 43(6), 936–944.
- Yan-yu, X., Yun-mei, S., Zhi-peng, C. and Qi-neng, P., 2006. Preparation of silymarin proliposome: a new way to increase oral bioavailability of silymarin in beagle dogs. International Journal of Pharmaceutics, 319(1), 162–168.
- Yoder, E. and Witczak, M., 1975. Principles of Pavement Design. John Wiley and Sons.
- Zhang, J., Airey, G., Grenfell, J. and Apeagyei, A., 2018. Moisture sensitivity examination of asphalt mixtures using thermodynamic, direct adhesion peel and compacted mixture mechanical tests. Road Materials and Pavement Design, 19(1), 120–138.
- Zuidam, N., and Nedoviæ, V. 2010. Encapsulation Technologies for Active Food Ingredients and Food Processing, 2nd edn. Springer, New York, 3–100.

## **Appendix A**

Marshall, gyratory, and vibratory compaction test specimens were prepared in this study to evaluate the mechanical performance for the CMC materials by using the Marshall Stability test described in Section 3.2.7. It was found that the Marshall compaction test specimens had higher strength levels, as shown in Figure 1.



**Figure 1** Marshall force registered for CMC test specimens, at 20°C by using aggregate gradation in Table 3.1, after 24 curing.

## **Appendix B**

The aggregate gradation as shown in Figure 3.1 was limestone aggregates obtained from Tunstead Quarry, Derbyshire, UK, which designed based on Cooper's revised Fuller formula as shown below

$$P = \frac{(100-F)(d^n - 0.075^n)}{D^n - 0.075^n} + F$$
(1)

Where P is percent material passing sieve size d (mm), D maximum aggregate size (mm), F filler percentage and n, an exponential value that dictates the concave nature of the gradation line. The n value used was 0.45 which is an exponential factor that can be used to produce good aggregate packing. The value selected for D was 14 mm and F was equal to 4 percent.

The aggregate gradation as shown in Figure 4.1 was also limestone aggregates obtained from Tunstead Quarry, Derbyshire, UK and consisted of the following nominal sizes: 14mm, 10, 6, dust and a few microns of filler.

By comparing the aggregate gradation in Figure 3.1 to Figure 4.1 by the CMC test specimens, it was found that

- CMC specimens did not affect any large in strength with number of blows, after 24h curing, at 20°C as shown in Figure 2(a).
- CMC specimens also did not affect any large in strength, at different curing times, at 20°C as shown in Figure 2(b).



**Figure 2** Marshall force registered for CMC test specimens, , at 20°C by using aggregate gradation in Table 3.1 and Table 4.1 (a) at different number of blows per flat face, after 24 curing, and (b) at different curing times.